

National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Service des thèses canadiennes

NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents



MEASUREMENT OF RESPIRATORY WORK AND RESISTANCE BY ARTIFICIAL RESPIRATION

UNDER CONDITIONS OF IMMERSION AND RAISED AMBIENT PRESSURES

by

Sandra Lucille Jenks B.P.H.E., Queen's University, 1986

B.A., Queen's University, 1986

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in the school

of

Kinesiology

[©] Sandra Lucille Jenks 1989

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

December 1989

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author. National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4 Service des thèses canadiennes

The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'anad'ä

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-59360-1

APPROVAL

Name: Sandra Lucille Jenks

Degree: Master of Science

Title of thesis: Measurement of Respiratory Work and Resistance by Artificial

Respiration Under Conditions of Immersion and Raised Ambient

Pressures

Examining Committee:

Chair: Dr. I. Mekjavic

Dr. J.B. Morrison Senior Supervisor

Dr. E.W. Banister

Dr. D. Hedges

Dr. J.D.⁴ Road Department of Medicine University of British Columbia External Examiner

Date Approved: November 30, 1989

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay

Author:

(signature) (name) (date)

ABSTRACT

It was hypothesized that upright immersion without breathing pressure compensation increases airway resistance and the work of breathing. Secondly that compensation of breathing gas pressure to lung centroid pressure (P_{LC}) will return respiratory mechanics towards normal. Finally, increased ambient pressure causes an increase in the work of breathing due to the turbulent nature of respiratory airflow.

Five subjects were each mechanically ventilated under six experimental conditions: at 1 ATA in dry conditions; immersed at 1 ATA without hydrostatic pressure compensation of breathing gas; immersed at 1 ATA with breathing gas supplied at P $_{LC}$; and immersed at 2, 4, and 6 ATA, with breathing gas supplied at P $_{LC}$. The subjects were ventilated by a hydraulically driven breathing simulator whose frequency was controlled by the investigator. Subjects relaxed to their expiratory reserve volume and were then ventilated passively for 20 seconds at a 2 litre tidal volume. Ventilations were controlled at 20, 30, 40, 50, and 60 L.min⁻¹ in separate trials. Pressure and volume data were collected in each condition. From these measures elastic, and flow-resistive respiratory work, respiratory resistance and dynamic compliance were calculated.

Elastic work remained constant with increasing minute ventilation whereas increasing minute ventilation produced increases in flow-resistive work (p<0.05) for all conditions. During uncompensated immersion at 1 ATA elastic and flow-resistive work were increased and dynamic compliance was reduced from comparative trials in dry conditions. In contrast, immersion with breathing pressure compensation to P $_{LC}$ showed no significant differences from dry conditions. When immersed with breathing pressure compensation flow-resistive work was increased at 4 and 6 ATA compared with 1 ATA (p<0.05). In addition, an interaction effect was found between gas density and minute ventilation which is indicative of a turbulent flow component. Expiratory flow-resistive work exceeded inspiratory flow-resistive work at all gas. densities (p<.05).

iii

Respiratory resistance was shown to be significantly greater_at higher gas densities and lower lung volumes. There was also an interaction effect between airflow rate and gas density. From theoretical modelling of experimental data, expiratory resistance appeared to be more turbulent in nature than inspiratory resistance which contained a greater laminar flow component:

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author gratefully aknowledges the contributions of the following people to the successful completion of this thesis:

Dr. J.B. Morrison for his support, expertise and guidance with the project; Sue Fairburn for her research assitance during the data acquisition phase, for making fancy diagrams with the MAC, and for making sure that I was well fed during the last few weeks of writing; Vic Stobbs and Gavril Morariu for controlling the hyperbaric chamber during all chamber dives, building and modifying experimental equipment, and for knowing when to cheer me up; Dr. T. Richardson, Dr. D. Hedges, and Dr. M. Allen for their medical supervision during the hyperbaric experiments; Dr. E. Banister and Dr. D. Hedges for their editorial comments; Rob Taylor for his assitance with the data aquisition program and instrumentation; Bob Sabiston for teaching me how to program in Pascal, and all my co-workers at MERU for recognizing my hectic workload. Finally, I'd like to thank my parents, Len and Diana Jenks, for their continual love and support, and James Voogt for just being there when he was needed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Аррі	roval	······································	
Abst	ract		. iii ³
Ackr	nowledge	ements	v /
List	of Table	PS	viii
List	of Figure	es	. ix
1.	INTROE	DUCTION	1
	1, 1	Respiratory Mechanics	2
	1.2	Respiratory Resistance	6
	1.3	Abbreviations and Definitions of Terms	6
2.	REVIEW	OF LITERATURE	12
	2.1	Measurement of the Work of Breathing	13
•	2.2	The Immersed Environment	15
	2.3	The Hyperbaric Environment	20
	2.4	Mechanical Ventilation as a Research Technique	21
	2.5	Objectives	25
	2.6	Hypotheses	25
3.	ME-THO	DS	26
	3.1	Apparatus	26
	3.2	Procedures	31
	3.3	Compliance and Pulmonary Function Tests	37
	3.4	Data Analysis	38
4.	RESULT	S: RESPIRATORY WORK	48
	4.1	Work at 1 ATA	48
	4.2	Respiratory Work at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA	62
	4.3	Ventilatory Power	69 -
5.	RESULT	S: RESPIRATORY RESISTANCE AND COMPLIANCE	74
	5.1	Respiratory Resistance	74
	5.2	Respiratory Compliance	80

	5.3	Repetition of Dry Trials at 1 ATA	-83-
6.	DISCUS	SION	84
	6.1	Respiratory Work	84
	6.2	Power	87
	6.3	Respiratory Resistance	89
	6.4	Elastic Work and Compliance	90
7.	CONCLU	JSIONS	93
List o	of Refere	ences	95
Appe	ndix A .	1	104
Appe	ndix B		105
Appe	ndix C		09

LIST OF TABLES

Table	e	ege
2.1	Contribution of work components to respiratory work_at rest: literature	. 16
2.2	Contribution of airway, lung tissue, and chest wall resistive forces to total flow-resistive forces: literature.	. 16
2.3	Effects of immersion on components of respiratory work and resistance: literature.	. 19
2.3	Comparison of data of two measurement techniques for normal and obese men (Sharp et al., 1964).	. 24
3.1	Subject anthropometric information.	. 33
4.1	Mean elastic work at each experimental condition performed at one atmosphere pressure.	. 50
4.2	Mean elastic work at each atmospheric pressure:	. 63
5.1	Mean subject resistances at 1.0 L.sec ⁻¹ .	. 79
5.3	Static and Dynamic Compliance at 1 ATA.	. 81
A1	Respiratory Capacities, L (BTPS)	104 -
B1	Regression coefficients and variance for inspiratory flow-resistive work	105
B2	Regression coefficients and variance for expiratory flow-resistive work	106
B3	Regression coefficients and variance for total flow-resistive work	107
В4	Regression coefficients and variance for total respiratory work	108
C 1	Regression coefficients and variance for inspiratory resistance	109
C1	Regression coefficients and variance for expiratory resistance.	110

LIST OF FIGURES

	Figur	re P	'age
,	1.1	Mechanical work of respiration and its contributing forces.	3
	1.2	Schematic inter-relationships between respiratory pressure measurements.	8
	2.1	Schematic representation of the components of thoracic elasticity	-14
	2.2	The pressure-volume diagram of chest wall and lungs in healthy man: the relaxation pressure curve.	14
	3.1	The hypo/hyperbaric chamber: entry lock, main lock, and wet lock.	28
	3.2	Serial components of the respirator system.	29
	3. 3	Breathing Machine	29
	3.4	Breathing circuit within the wet lock of the hyper/hypobaric chamber	30
	3.5	Flow-resistive work divisions by area on the pressure-volume diagram	39 , 1
	3.6	Inspiratory resistive work when the end-tidal transrespiratory pressure equals or exceeds relaxation pressure.	41
	3.7	Expiratory resistive work when the end-tidal transrespiratory pressure equals or exceeds relaxation pressure.	41
	3.8	Inspiratory resistive work: end expired transrespiratory pressure is less than relaxation pressure.	42
	3.9	Expiratory resistive work: end expired transrespiratory pressure is less than relaxation pressure.	* 4 2
	4.1	Relationship of inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA.	<u>5</u> 1
• .	4.2	Relationship of expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA.	53
•	4.3	Relationship of total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA.	~54
	4.4	Relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA.	55
	4.5	The relationship of respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation in the immersed experimental environment with hydrostatic pressure compensation at 1 ATA.	57
	4.6	The relationship of inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.	58
	4.7	Expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.	
			- e

ix

4.8	The relationship of total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.	60	-
4.9	The relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.	61	-
4.10	Inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid.	65	
4.11	Expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed - lung centroid.	66	;
4.12	Total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid.	68	-
4.13	Total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA.Immersed – lung centroid.	· 70	
4.14	Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA: immersed-lung centroid. Theoretical relationship derived from experimental data.	71	
4.15	Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 6 ATA: immersed-lung centroid. Theoretical relationship derived from experimental data.	72	
4.16	Flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA.	73	•
5.1	The interactive relationship of inspiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate.	76	
5.2	The theoretically based interactive relationship of expiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate.	78	
5.3	Mean dynamic and static compliance at 1 ATA.	82	-
6.1	Respiratory flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation: the results of six studies.	88-	
	4.8 4.9 4.10 4.11 4.12 4.13 4.14 4.15 4.16 5.1 5.2 5.3 6.1	 4.8 The relationship of total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks: 4.9 The relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks. 4.10 Inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 4.11 Expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 4.12 Total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 4.13 Total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 4.14 Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA: immersed – lung centroid. 4.15 Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 6 ATA: immersed data. 4.16 Flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation at 6 ATA: immersed data. 4.16 Flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. 5.1 The interactive relationship of inspiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate. 5.2 The theoretically based interactive relationship of expiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate. 5.3 Mean dynamic and static compliance at 1 ATA. 	 4.8 The relationship of total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks; 60 4.9 The relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks. 61 4.10 Inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 65 4.11 Expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 66 4.12 Total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 70 4.13 Total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed – lung centroid. 70 4.14 Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA: immersed – lung centroid. 71 4.15 Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 0 ATA: immersed – lung centroid. 72 4.16 Flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 5.1 The interactive relationship of inspiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate. 76 5.2 The theoretically based interactive relationship of expiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate. 78 5.3 Mean dynamic and static compliance at 1 ATA. 82 6.1 Respiratory flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation: the results of six studies.

Х

CHAPTER 1

Respiratory mechanics have been the subject of detailed study for well over a century. Mechanical components include inherent stresses and strains, fluid dynamics and respiratory power. These elements are of particular importance to respiration during immersion and hyperbaric exposure, and consequently to the design of breathing apparatus for underwater work.

There are four components in the process of respiration: pulmonary ventilation; the diffusion of oxygen and carbon dioxide between the alveoli and the blood; the transport of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the blood; and the subsequent diffusion in the tissues. Although only the first component is related to respiratory mechanics, the mechanics of respiration affect the equilibrium of all subsequent components, which in turn affect the first.

Despite advances in hyperbaric physiology, human performance is still restricted in the high-pressure underwater environment. Insufficient alveolar ventilation and increased respiratory work have been recognized as two physiological limitations (Lanphier and Camporesi, 1982). Morrison (1988) identified underwater breathing apparatus as a critical factor. Understanding the respiratory requirements of the diver and the associated physiological costs would assist the design of improved breathing equipment.

1.0.1 Respiratory Musculature

The major muscle of inspiration is the diaphragm contributing to 25% to 75% of the tidal volume (Agostoni, 1964; Grimby *et al.*, 1968; Wade, 1954; Martin *et al.*, 1980; Bye *et al.*, 1984; Reid *et al.*, 1985). The lungs are also expanded by the elevation of the rib cage which acts to increase the anteroposterior diameter of the chest cavity. This action is affected by the movement of the sternocleidmastoid, scaleni, anterior serrati, and external intercostal muscles. At rest these accessory muscles are not usually functional. Rather, the diaphragm is solely responsible for inspiration

(Agostoni, 1964). Expiration is principally a passive action caused by the resultantelastic recoil of the lung and chest wall tissues. At rest, no expiratory muscles are involved, but during exercise the internal intercostals and abdominal recti serve to depress the rib cage and elevate the diaphragm, thus decreasing the volume of the chest cavity (Agostoni, 1964).

1.1 Respiratory Mechanics

Mechanical work is done by the respiratory muscles in order to counteract elastic, flow-resistive, and inertial forces (Fenn, 1951; Otis, 1964; Otis *et al.*, 1950). It is a function of lung volume and its derivatives (f/V, V, V/), where volume is associated with elastic forces, flow is associated with resistive forces, and acceleration is associated with inertial forces. Figure 1.1 illustrates the work components. Mathematically, the work of breathing can be represented as the integral of pressure with respect to changes in lung volume:

 $W = \int P \delta V.$

(1.1)

Hence, the work of breathing can be represented graphically via a pressure-volume diagram.

1.1.1 Elastic Work

A component of the work of inspiration is stored in the elastic structures of the system and thus is an available energy source during expiration. Work done against elastic forces will vary depending on the tidal volume and the compliance of the respiratory structures.





1.1.2 Flow Resistive Work

Airway resistance and tissue resistance, as well as the rate of change of lung volume dictates the magnitude of flow resistive work (Fenn, 1951; Otis, 1964; Otis *et al.*, 1950). Airway resistance refers to the opposition to air movement created by friction which results in the loss of mechanical energy as heat (Taylor, 1987). Pulmonary resistance includes both airway resistance and frictional resistance to movement of the lung tissue. Total respiratory resistance is the sum of all resistive forces experienced during breathing, and is composed of pulmonary resistance and chest wall resistance.

Pulmonary air flow is predominantly laminar (Fenn, 1951) since turbulence is usually only developed in the lung when the air changes direction rapidly. Such a change could result from heavy exercise, or when the diameter of the airway is abruptly altered. The driving pressure, ΔP , relating to laminar flow can be calculated according to Poiseuille's Law which states:

$$\Delta P = (8 \cdot l \cdot \nu \cdot \eta) \cdot (981 \cdot r^4)^{-1}$$

.(1.2)

(1.3)

where ΔP is the change in pressure (cmH₂0), / is the length of the tube (cm), ν -is the velocity of air flow (cm.s⁻¹), η is the viscosity of the medium, and r is the radius of the tube (mm). When fluid velocity exceeds a critical value within the system, defined by Reynold's number, flow becomes turbulent. Reynold's number is given as the product of linear velocity, ν , gas density, γ , and airway diameter, d, all divided by the gas viscosity, μ :

Reynold's Number, $Re = \gamma \cdot d \cdot \nu \cdot \mu^{-1}$

At rest, the likelihood of exceeding the critical velocity in the airway is small due to low velocities and small diameters (Fenn, 1951). As Reynold's number will rise in proportion with gas density, respiratory airflow becomes more turbulent as barometric pressure rises. The result is an increase in airway resistance (Dahlback,

During turbulent flow the pressure difference is given by the equation

(1.4)

$$\Delta P = [(f \cdot l) \cdot (4 \pi^2 \cdot r^5)^{-1}] \cdot \dot{V}^2$$

where f is a friction factor that depends on Reynold's number and the roughness of the airway walls, / is the length of the airway, r the radius of the airway, and V the volume rate of air flow (DuBois, 1964).

1.1.3 Inertial Forces

Inertial forces and the associated work have been neglected in experimental measures of respiratory work largely due to their negligible contributions to the cost of ventilation at normal breathing frequencies (Rohrer, 1925; DuBois, 1953; Mead, 1956; and Sharp *et al.*, 1964). Rohrer (1925) initiated the study of inertance, followed almost twenty-five years later by DuBois (1953). Inertance was studied in conditions of increased ambient pressures by Mead (1956). The results of his experiments on this topic indicated that inertance increased approximately in proportion to ambient pressure, up to a level of 4 ATA absolute pressure. The author concluded that the inertance measured was predominantly due to the gas stream as opposed to the lungs and the thorax.

The mechanical efficiency of breathing was calculated at 19% to 25% by Milic-Emili and Petit (1960). Margaria *et al.* (1960) further added that the mechanical efficiency of the respiratory muscles is the same as that of the muscles involved in performing useful external work. In general, the work of breathing is relatively small in magnitude with a cost of no more than 3% of the total metabolic rate (Otis and Cain, 1949; Otis *et al.*, 1950; Margaria *et al.*, 1960).

1.2 Respiratory Resistance

Resistance is the pressure drop across a system per unit rate of change of volume. When pressure is modelled as a combination of laminar and turbulent flow:

$$\Delta P = k_1 \dot{V} + k_1 \dot{V}^2, \qquad (1.5)$$

resistance can be modelled as

$$R = \Delta P \dot{V}^{-1} = k_1 + k_2 \dot{V}, \qquad (1.6)$$

where the intercept k_1 represents the viscous resistance in regions of laminar flow and the slope k_2 is dependent on system geometry in regions of turbulent flow.

1.3 Abbreviations and Definitions of Terms

1.3.1 Lung Volumes

1.

2.

3.

4.

The lungs can be divided into four unique pulmonary volumes, which, when added together, equal the maximum volume to which the lungs can be expanded.

Tidal Volume (V $_{\mathcal{T}}$). The volume of air inspired or expired with each normal breath.

- *Inspiratory Reserve Volume (IRV).* The amount of air that can be inspired above normal tidal inspiration.
- *Expiratory Reserve Volume (ERV)*. The amount of air that can be forcefully expired below normal tidal expiration.
 - Residual Volume (RV). The volume of air remaining in the lungs following a maximal expiratory effort.

1.3.2 Lung Capacities

Lung capacities are composed of two or more primary lung volumes.

Functional Residual Capacity (FRC). The volume of gas remaining in the lungs at the end of a normal expiration.

$$FRC = ERV + RV.$$
(1.7)

2.

3.

4.

1.

Inspiratory Capacity (IC). The volume of air that can be inspired after a normal expiration.

$$IC = V_{T} + IRV.$$
 (1.8)

Total Lung Capacity (TLC). The volume of air contained in the lungs at the end of a maximal inspiration.

$$TLC = RV + ERV + V_{T} + IRV.$$
(1.9)

Vital Capacity (VC). The greatest volume of air that can be expelled from the lungs after maximum inspiration.

$$VC = ERV + V_{T} + IRV.$$
 (1.10)

1.3.3 Respiratory Pressures

All pressures and components of respiratory work and flow resistance are expressed relative to an anatomical location or dimension by use of the following subscript abbreviations: airway (aw); airway opening (ao); mouth (m); alveolar (alv); oesophagus (oes); pleural (pl); lung (l); lung tissue(lt); body surface (bs); total respiratory system (rs); chest wall (cw); transpulmonary (tp); transrespiratory (trs); and transthoracic (tth). Transpulmonary pressure, P $_{tp}$, refers to the pressure difference across the lungs. P $_{bs}$ refers to the mean hydrostatic or atmospheric pressure acting on the surface of the thorax. P $_{ao}$ refers to the pressure within the airway at the mouth, and is measured within the mouth piece of the breathing loop. P $_{m}$ refers to the external pressure (ie. atmospheric pressure) at the mouth. Figure 1.2 is a schematic diagram representing these physiological pressures.

The following expressions define pressure inter-relationships. It should be noted that for measurement purposes, it is assumed that P $_{oes} = P_{pl}$.







 $P_{tth} = P_{pl} - P_{bs}$

1.3.4 Resistance

1.

2.

3.

Airway resistance (R_{aw}). The opposition to air movement created by friction, and resulting in loss of mechanical energy as heat. Airway resistance will vary with lung volume when airflow is laminar. When airflow is turbulent, airway resistance will also vary with the flow rate.

Pulmonary Resistance (R $_{pul}$). Frictional resistance is imposed by movement of lung tissue moving across itself (R $_{lt}$). Pulmonary resistance is the summation of airway and lung tissue resistances.

 $R_{pul} = R_{aw} + R_{lt}$

(1.14)

(1.11)

(1.12)

(1.13)

Respiratory Resistance (R $_{rs}$). Frictional resistance is imposed by the movement of the chest wall, R $_{W}$. Respiratory resistance is the sum of all resistive forces experienced during breathing.

$$R_{rs} = R_{aw} + R_{lt} + R_{w} \qquad (1.15)$$

1.3.5 Work

1.

2.

3.

4.

Elastic Work. The amount of energy required to expand the lungs against resistive forces.

Tissue Resistance Work. The amount of energy required to

overcome the viscosity of the lungs and chest wall.

Airway Resistance Work. The amount of energy required to overcome the resistance to airflow through the respiratory passageways.

Total Respiratory Work. The amount of work required to overcome all respiratory forces, including elastic, resistive, and inertial forces.

1.3.6 Power

1.

The time rate at which energy is transferred into respiratory work.

airway, with glottis open.-

1.3.7 Miscellaneous Terms

Lung Centroid (P_{LC}). Derived from the phrase 'center of pressure of thorax', and used initially by Paton and Sand (1947). Lung centroid pressure is defined as the pressure required to return the immersed lung relaxation volume to the level that exists in air. The centroid is a spatial location within the thorax which represents the position of the mean hydrostatic pressure acting on the outside of the thorax during immersion. In air, pressure at this point would be atmospheric pressure. During immersion, with an occluded airway, it would equal the hydrostatic pressure found at some point between the apex and the base of the lungs. *Relaxation Pressure* ($P_{R(oc)}$). Intrathoracic pressure obtained during complete respiratory relaxation against an occluded

3.-.

2.

Relaxation Volume (V $_R$). Lung volume obtained during complete respiratory relaxation with glottis and airway open. The airway may or may not be open to the atmosphere. In the case of immersion, when breathing from self-contained underwater breathing apparatus, the airway is generally not equilibriated to atmospheric pressure, but to the delivery pressure of the apparatus. When the airway is open to the atmosphere, while seated in air, the relaxation volume is usually equivalent to the functional residual capacity.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Respiratory work has been the topic of study for several years. As early as 1915, Rohrer developed an explanatory equation relating respiratory pressure change to rate of volume change:

$$\Delta P = k_1 \dot{V} + k_2 \dot{V}^2. \tag{3.1}$$

Although this empirical equation is an over-simplification of the problem, it has served well for rough prediction purposes (Lanphier and Camporesi, 1982). The two components acting in series are modelled to represent laminar flow and turbulent flow respectively. The values of k_1 and k_2 were determined by Rohrer (1915) both to be 0.8, with ΔP measured in cm.H₂O, and \dot{V} in L.sec⁻¹.

At one time, it was thought that the first coefficient depended on viscosity alone and the second coefficient on density alone. This assumption has been shown to be incorrect. Maio and Farhi (1967) found that changes in gas density influenced ΔP even at low levels of flow. Wood and Bryan (1969) noted the importance of pressure change in proportion to both density and V^2 .

It is possible that a transition from laminar flow to turbulent flow exists, affecting the relative contribution of the two modelled components. DuBois (1964) suggested that since Reynold's number is increased with raised gas density and/or flow rate, flow becomes turbulent in some parts of the airways that were previously laminar. The result would be a decreasing contribution of the laminar component and an increasing contribution of the turbulent component.

2.1 Measurement of the Work of Breathing

1.

2

Measurement of the work of breathing, partitioned into components, has been investigated extensively under normal environmental conditions. The determination of the elastic work of breathing was initially accredited to Romanoff (1910–1911). Further investigations were conducted by Rohrer (1916) and Rahn *et al.* (1946). Rahf^{**} and his associates were the first recognized for the production of respiratory pressure-volume diagrams. The elastic recoil of the respiratory system under static conditions was measured from these diagrams.

The elasticity of the respiratory system may be divided into distinct sections (Agostoni and Rahn, 1960; Mead and Milic-Emili, 1964):

Parallel elasticity of the rib cage and abdomen-diaphragm within the chest wall.

Series elasticity of the chest wall and lung tissue.

Lung tissue elasticity is represented by transpulmonary pressure change while chest wall elasticity is obtained via transthoracic pressure change. (Refer to Figure 1.2 for transpulmonary and transthoracic pressures.) Figure 2.1 represents schematically the components of respiratory elasticity. The sigmoidal shape of the pressure-volume curve of the total respiratory apparatus results from the summation of chest wall and lung tissue curves. Figure 2.2 displays the classical sigmoidal shape.

Otis *et al.* (1950) reported the contribution of elastic work, at rest, to the total work of respiration to be 63% with the remaining 37% accredited to flow resistive work. Attinger and Segal (1959) reported an almost identical value of flow resistive work at 38% of the total. McIIroy *et al.* (1954) reported elastic work to contribute 70% to the entire work of breathing performed at rest. Since the contribution of inertial forces to respiratory work are considered negligible, the remaining 30% to 40% of total respiratory work may be attributed to work against flow resistive forces. McIIroy *et al.* (1955) established lung tissue resistance to contribute 35% to total resistance. When considering only the work done against flow resistive forces, the airway resistance component has been shown to be the major contributor to the









overall total, in the neighbourhood of 60% to 80% (Otis et al., 1950; Marshall and Dubois, 1956; Ferris et al., 1964; Gauthier et al., 1982). Flow mechanics and its inherent variables would largely dictate the dynamic work of respiration, where the flow resistive work increases non-linearly with minute ventilation (Otis et al., 1950; Fritts et al., 1959; Holmgren et al., 1973). Table 2.1 summarizes the findings of the presented studies regarding the relative contribution of the components to the work of the work of breathing. Table 2.2 summarizes the literature regarding the relative contribution of resistive force components to the total.

Work of breathing was also calculated at exercise. McIlroy and his co-workers observed that the increase in the work of breathing during exercise is dependent on two factors. First, there is a relative change in the rate and depth of respiration as minute volume is increased. Second, there is an exercise effect on the magnitude of the resistances to lung movement. A mean value for work of breathing was not calculated as steady-state was not achieved by the subjects.

2.2 The Immersed Environment

The effect of immersion on respiratory and cardiorespiratory functions has been studied extensively. Most experimental procedures involve measurements made with the subject immersed to the neck in thermally neutral water (Agostoni *et al.*,1966; Craig and Ware, 1967; Hong et al., 1969; Arborelius et al., 1972; Begin *et al.*, 1976). Control measurements were often taken with water at the level of the xiphoid process (Hong *et al.*, 1969; Farhi and Linnarsson, 1977). The effects of immersion on respiration are numerous. Several common findings were established through the various experiments. In general, immersion tends to:

1.

0

Decrease rate of ventilation at a given rate of oxygen exchange (Arborelius *et al.*, 1972; Thalmann *et al.*, 1979; Grismer and Goodwin; 1983).

2.

Increase alveolar ventilation at a given rate of ventilation (Begin et al., 1976; Thalmann et al., 1979).

Table 2.1: Contribution of work components to respiratory work at rest: literature.

SOURCE	ELASTIC WORK	RESISTIVE WORK	
Otis <i>et al.</i> ,1950	63%	37%	
Attinger & Segal, 1959	/0%	38%	

Table 2.2: Contribution of airway, lung tissue and chest wall resistive forces to total flow-resistive forces: literature.

SOURCE	AIRWAY RESISTANCE	LUNG TISSUE RESISTANCE	CHEST WALL RESISTANCE
Otis <i>et al.</i> , 1950	77.6%	22.31	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Mcllroy et al., 1955		35%	
Marshall and Dubois, 1956	86%	13.7%	
Ferris <i>et al.</i> , 1964	60%	1%	39%
Gauthier <i>et al.</i> , 1982	82%	18%	

¹Combined chest wall and lung tissue resistance.

Decrease vital capacity (Agostoni *et al.*, 1966; Craig and Ware, 1967; Hong *et al.*, 1969; Robertson *et al.*, 1978).

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

14.

Increase blood flow to the apical region of the lungs and decrease blood flow to the basal region of the lungs (Arborelius *et al.*, 1972).

Decrease expiratory reserve volume (Agostoni *et al.*, 1966; Hong *et al.*, 1969; Flynn *et al.*, 1975; Dahlback *et al.*, 1978; Robertson *et al.*, 1978; Taylor and Morrison, 1989).

Increase airway resistance (Agostoni *et al.*, 1966) and pulmonary resistance (Morrison *et al.*, 1987).

Increase the total work of breathing, resulting mostly from an increase in elastic work (Hong *et al.*, 1969; Sterk, 1973; Dahlback *et al.*, 1978; Taylor and Morrison, 1989).

Increase pulmonary capillary blood flow (Begin *et al.*, 1976; Farhi and Linnarsson, 1977).

Decrease functional residual capacity (Begin *et al.*, 1976; Farhi and Linnarsson, 1977; Robertson *et al.*, 1978; Grismer and Goodwin, 1983; Taylor, 1987).

Increase pulmonary_air_trapping (Dahlback and Lundgren, 1972).
 Decreased maximum voluntary ventilation (Flynn *et al.*, 1975).
 Increase heart rate (Krasney *et al.*, 1984).

13. Increase cardiac output (Farhi and Linnarsson, 1977; Krasney *et al.*, 1984).

Shift the relaxation pressure-volume curve to the right (Jarrett, 1965; Hong *et al.*, 1969; McKenna *et al.*, 1973; Flynn *et al.*, 1975; Minh *et al.*, 1979; Taylor, 1987; Morrison and Taylor, 1988).

Full body immersion in water exposes the subject's lungs to a change in hydrostatic pressure due to the hydrostatic gradient acting on the body surface. This hydrostatic gradient imposes an imbalance between the thoracic surface pressure and the airway opening (mouth pressure). Morrison and Reimers (1982) indicated that the

division of work between inspiration and expiration was altered with immersion due to the effect of a hydrostatic pressure imbalance between the pressure of the breathing gas supplied (usually at the level of the mouth) and the mean hydrostatic pressure acting on the surface of the thorax. The greater the imbalance, the more the subject will exhale below the normal end expiratory volume in an attempt to equilibriate the external pressure acting on the thorax by readjustment of the elastic_ tissues of the lung-chest wall system.

An investigation involving the work of breathing when in an immersed environment was conducted by Hong et al. (1969). Four subjects were immersed in the seated position at two distinct levels, the xiphoid process and the neck. The total work of inspiration rose 64.6% with immersion to the neck, largely due to an increase in elastic work. Other studies, using a variety of methods but all incorporating the use of oesophageal balloons to collect pressure data, were performed to determine the changes in flow resistance imposed by upright immersion. Agostoni et al. (1966) observed an increase by 57.7% in the airway resistance with immersion to the xiphoid process. Sterk (1970, 1973), using a dynamic transpulmonary pressure technique, deduced the pulmonary resistance to rise between 185% and 243%. Dahlback (1978) and Dahlback et al. (1979) reported very different increments in pulmonary flow resistance with immersion, at 31% and 42.5% respectively. Lollgen et al. (1980), who employed the oscillation method to derive total respiratory resistance, found resistance to increase by 57.4% with immersion. A recent investigation by Taylor (1987) observed that when immersed, inspiratory, expiratory, and total pulmonary resistances were elevated to at least double those in dry conditions. Breathing air supplied at lung centroid position rather than at mouth pressure restored normal lung subdivisions, returned elastic and flow resistive work towards normal, and allowed greater work load tolerance with less respiratory distress. Table 2.3 summarizes the literature findings.

Table 2.3: Effects of immersion on components of respiratory work and resistance: literature.

SOURCE	INSPIRATORY FLOW RESISTIVE WORK	AIRWAY RESISTANCE	PULMONARY RESISTANCE	TOTAL RESISTANCE
Agostoni <i>et al.</i> , 1966 Hong <i>et al.</i> 1969	$+64.6\%^{2}$	+57.7% 1		
Sterk, 1970;1973 Dahlback, 1978	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	~··	+185-243% +31%	
Daniback <i>et al.</i> , 1979 Lollgen <i>et al.</i> , 1980 Taylor, 1989	+301%3		+42.5% +220% ³	+57.4%

• •

¹Immersion to the xiphoid process. ²Increase in work from immersion at the xiphoid process to immersion at the neck. ³Total body immersion.

رع

2.3 The Hyperbaric Environment

Wood and Bryan (1969) measured maximum expiratory flow at six lung volumes between 1 and 10 ATA. At larger lung volumes, the maximum expiratory flow varied with density; at lower lung volumes (less than 25% vital capacity), flow tended to be less density dependent. The authors concluded that the maximum breathing capacity and peak expiratory flow varied inversely and exponentially with the density of air.

Salzano *et al.* (1970) had subjects perform graded exercise tasks on a bicycle ergometer at varying ambient pressures, up to 31.3 ATA in a dry compression chamber. The gas mixture breathed was composed of 99.1% helium and 0.9% oxygen, with a resultant density of the mixture of over four times that of air at sea level. Work at depth was performed with increases in oxygen consumption, V_{O_2} , and tidal volume, as well as decreases in heart rate and respiratory rate, when compared to the same work rate at sea level. Increased gas density was thought to be the factor in most of the altered responses.

Pulmonary function in divers "living" at 49.5 ATA was monitored by Spaur *et al.* (1977). Ventilatory function was reduced, as expected, with a decrease in the maximum voluntary ventilation by 45%. An increase in functional residual capacity, *FRC*, and transpulmonary pressure was observed. During underwater work periods, the subjects wore closed circuit breathing apparatus while pedalling a cycle ergometer. The underwater work led to severe dyspnea. Physiological adjustments made were observed to be similar to those made in asthma sufferers. For this reason, the dyspnea resulting at high ambient pressures was concluded to be mechanical rather than chemical in nature.

Wood and Bryan (1978) tested two subjects with a graded exercise regime on a bicycle ergometer at five ambient pressures ranging from 1 to 10-ATA (dry environment). An oesophageal balloon was used to record intrapleural pressures. Maximal testing (900 kg.m.min⁻¹) had to be discontinued at ambient pressures above 4 ATA due to severe dyspnea. The reduced aerobic capacity was related to the

limitation of expiratory flow, due to dynamic airway compression. The authors suggested that the decrease observed in the maximum expiratory flow at depth was the direct result of the raised resistance caused by an increased gas density. Analogous to Spaur *et al.* (1977), Wood and Bryan observed a resemblance between healthy subjects breathing dense air and patients with obstructive lung disease.

Similar findings were observed by Thalmann et al. (1979) when three divers performed submerged exercise in the prone position, at depth. The purpose of the study was to investigate the effects of static lung loading and increased gas density on the submerged exercising subject breathing air. Dry control testing was executed at 1.45 ATA; immersed testing occurred at ambient pressures ranging from 1.45 ATA to 6.78 ATA. With immersion, the divers were subjected to a hydrostatic gradient effect and thus increased gas density could not be concluded as the only factor for increased respiratory resistance. Dyspnea proved to be the limiting factor at maximum work rate occurring during maximal exercise at 6.76 ATA with some but not all static lung loads. At a load of +10 cm.H₂O, less dyspnea resulted and subjects were able able to perform maximally at this density level for five minutes. The only parameter that correlated directly with the severity of the dyspnea was maximum oxygen consumption, V_{O} max.. Thalmann et al. (1979) noted that work-limiting dyspnea was observed at lower levels of oxygen consumption in the studies of Dwyer et al. (1977) and Spaur et al. (1977). The two earlier studies were conducted at greater ambient pressures (43.4 ATA and 49.5 ATA, respectively), which would induce a seven-fold increase in breathing gas density. Hence, Thalmann and his co-workers concluded dyspnea to be primarily related to hydrostatic imbalance.

2.4 Mechanical Ventilation as a Research Technique

Otis *et al.* (1950) were the first to develop the technique of mechanical ventilation as a research method, to measure volume changes in the chest in response to changes in pressures at normal breathing frequencies. The subjects voluntarily relaxed and allowed a sinusoidal pump to ventilate them. A Drinker Respirator enclosed the

subjects to the level of their necks while in the supine position. The pressure within the tank was subsequently altered, while the pressure gradient between the respirator and the mouth of the subjects was recorded. The elasticity of the lungs and chest wall, as well as the resistance to breathing, acted as the focus of analysis of the pressure-volume data. Inertia was calculated, but found to be negligible at the forcing frequencies employed. (Values calculated for work against elastic and resistive forces have been given earlier in this chapter. Refer to table 2.1.) From the experimental data, the authors derived equations that give an approximate description of the mechanics of human respiratory apparatus.

DuBois and Ross (1951) employed the Drinker Respirator apparatus at higher frequencies in an attempt to highlight the inertial factor. DuBois continued research in this area with his co-workers, and in 1956 reported the frequency response characteristics of the airways, lungs, and chest at oscillations in the range of 2 Hz to 15 Hz. The motion of the chest wall was measured through the creation of an electromagnetic field while the surface motion of the abdomen was also monitored under the assumption that if the diaphragm moved distally, the abdominal wall moved outward. The authors noted that air flow of the normal respiratory pattern was not necessarily sinusoidal, and hence could effect the data obtained.

The total work of breathing in obese men was assessed by Sharp *et al.* (1964) using a method incorporating a tank respirator, similar to the apparatus of Otis *et al.* (1950). Sharp and his co-workers noted that the validity of the method depended on the subject's ability to relax the respiratory muscles and to allow the tank respirator to perform the respiratory work. To test for complete subject relaxation throughout the procedure, they employed independent methods for measuring compliance and total resistance. Twenty-two subjects participated, fourteen of whom were obese and eight of whom were from the normal population. Tidal volumes, flows, and tank respirator pressures were recorded. Three breathing frequencies were used: 12, 20, and 30 breaths per minute, and the pressure in the tank was varied between +70 cmH,O and -70 cmH,O. The resultant values of compliance and resistance were

compared to the values obtained from the independent measures. Table 2.3 - summarizes these values.

With respect to compliance, the values obtained by the two methods were very similar, and thus highly correlated. With respect to resistance, the tank respirator values were two to three times the values obtained using an independent oscillation technique (control method #2). The difference in volume displacement employed by the two methods was of the magnitude of twenty times. Such an increase in the volume change would imply greater passive stretching of the respiratory tissues with the respirator technique, possibly producing different tissue resistances. Total respiratory work in kg.m.L⁻¹, at a respiratory rate of twenty breaths per minute, averaged 0.073 in n mal subjects, 0.095 in obese subjects, and 0.212 in obese subjects with obesity hypoventilation syndrome. The difference in values between the normal group and the obese groups were significant (p<0.05).
Table 2.3: Comparison of data of two measurement techniques for normal (N) and obese(O) men. (Sharp *et al.*, 1964)

£

<u></u>	TOTAL COMPLIANCE L.cmH2Q ⁻¹		TOTAL INSPIRATORY RESISTANCE cmH ₂ O.L ⁻¹ .sec	
	Tank Respirator	Control Method #1	Tank Respirator	Control Method #2
N:	0.104 ± 0.005	0.109 ± 0.009	4.80 ± 0.50	1.90 ± 0.07
0:	0.081 ± 0.007	0.072 ± 0.010	7.70 ± 0.72	3.10 ± 0.35

2.5 <u>Objectives</u>

1.

2.

3.

The objectives of this study were

To investigate the technique of artificial respiration in the measurement of total respiratory work and respiratory resistance.

To measure elastic and resistive components of respiratory work under dry conditions, during immersion with and without hydrostatic pressure compensation of breathing gas, and at raised ambient pressure.

To determine the relationship between the energy cost of ventilation $(J.L^{-1})$ and the rate of ventilation $(L.min^{-1})$ in each condition.

2.6 Hypotheses

1:

It was hypothesized that:

Upright immersion to the neck without hydrostatic pressure compensation of breathing gas, decreases lung relaxation volume and expiratory reserve volume, *ERV*. This effect will decrease the total respiratory compliance and increase airway resistance, causing an increase in the elastic and flow resistive work of breathing.

Provision of hydrostatic pressure compensation of breathing gas to lung centroid pressure (equal to the mean external pressure acting on the thorax) will return total respiratory compliance and airway resistance towards normal, resulting in reduced respiratory work during immersion.

3.

2.

At increased ambient pressure, an increase in respired gas density will cause an increase in the work of breathing due to the turbulent nature of airflow in the airways.

CHAPTER 3 METHODS

The most commonly used method for the determination of work of breathing involves the use of an oesophageal balloon to estimate intrapleural pressure. This technique is invasive, requires careful calibration, and involves a certain degree of discomfort to the subject. The validity of this technique exists on the assumption that oesphageal pressure closely approximates mean pleural pressure. It does not measure the total work of respiration as it omits the flow-resistive and elastic forces exerted by the chest wall. Hence, the oesophageal technique estimates only the pulmonary elastic and pulmonary flow-resistive components of respiratory work.

Mechanical ventilation has been used infrequently to measure respiratory work, although widely used for clinical purposes in the medical setting. In the latter situation, mechanical ventilation provides gas exchange that adequately supplies the tissues with oxygen when a patient's lungs can no longer do so independently (Chalikion and Weaver, 1984). Although the mechanical ventilation technique measures the total work of the respiratory system, it relies on the assumption that the subject can maintain total relaxation of the respiratory muscles during passive ventilation (Sharp *et al.*, 1964). Hence, it may be said that both techniques are subject to a source of potential error which may be either random or systematic in nature.

3.1 Apparatus

All experimental procedures took place at the Environmental Physiology Unit, in the School of Kinesiology at Simon Fraser University. The hypo/hyperbaric chamber was the site of mechanical ventilation trials, while the general laboratory area was used for lung function tests.

3.1.1 Hypo/Hyperbaric Chamber

The hypo/hyperbaric chamber consists of three locks; the entry lock, the main lock, and the wet lock. The wet lock is situated below the entry lock, and may be filled with water for experimental purposes. Figure 3.1 illustrates the three locks of the hypo/hyperbaric chamber. Verbal communication ports are wired for both the entry and main locks, while visual contact with all three locks is maintained at the control consul via television cameras. The chamber operators observe the experimental procedures on a video monitor connected to the three cameras. Emergency oxygen is available in the main lock and emergency air is available in all three locks.

3.1.2 Mechanical Respirator

The mechanical respirator consists of three major components in series. An electric motor, controlled by a radiotrol variable frequency controller, powers a hydraulic pump. In turn, the hydraulic pump powers a hydraulic motor which drives the respirator at the selected frequency when the system is engaged. The electric motor, controller, hydraulic pump and reservoir are situated outside the chamber and connected through the chamber wall via hydraulic connectors to the respirator within. Figure 3.2 illustrates the serial components of the respirator system, while Figure 3.3 depicts the breathing machine alone.

Air is pumped with a sinusoidal flow pattern through a combination of rigid and flexible tubing to the mouthpiece and back to the point of origin. One-way valves ensure unidirectional airflow to and from the subject. Between periods of mechanical ventilation, the subject breathed via a valve which connected the breathing circuit to either a demand regulator or the air within the wet lock. During trials, the valve would be shut allowing the subject to be ventilated from the closed circuit of the respirator. Figure 3.4 depicts the breathing circuit.

The changes in volume of the respirator were measured by a rectilinear potentiometer model HLP190 type FS (Llybrid Technology), and amplified by a Daytronic model 9010 mainframe system with a model 9163 analog input module. Pressure changes at the mouthpiece, P_{ao} , were monitored by a Validyne model



A – ENTRY LOCK B – MAIN LOCK C – WET LOCK D – CONTROL CONSOLE

Figure 3.1: The hypo/hyperbaric chamber: entry lock, main lock, and wet lock.

Breathing Machine System Block Diagram



Figure 3.2: Serial components of the respirator system. (Redrawn from the work of G. Morariu, 1983).



Figure 3.3: The breathing machine (Designed by G. Morariu, 1983).





30 +

:

DP215-52 pressure transducer and amplified by a model 9130 input module on the Daytronic mainframe. Both the volume and pressure signals were low pass filtered at 5 Hz by a Rockland model 432 dual HI/LO filter (Rockland Systems Corporation). Once filtered, the signals were recorded digitally at 50 Hz by a Tecmar A/D converter and an IBM PC microcomputer, controlled by a data collection program.

3.2 Procedures

1.

2.

3.

The experimental procedures developed for the collection of respiratory pressure-volume data were approved by the Environmental Physiology Unit and the University Ethics Committee at Simon Fraser University, prior to commencement of the study. Informed consent was obtained by all subjects following an information session regarding the approved protocol.

3.2.1 Subject Selection Procedure

Subjects selected to participate in the research experiment were required to meet certain criteria:

Participants of the study were required to be certified and experienced as divers.

Potential candidates performed respiratory maneuvers to produce static compliance curves. Repeatable curves indicated that the subject was able to relax with an open glottis against an occluded airway. Respiratory relaxation with an open glottis would allow for mechanical ventilation by the breathing machine. Subjects selected to participate were medically examined and questioned for good health by an attending physician. Identification of acute or chronic pulmonary, cardiac, respiratory, or neurologic conditions or diseases necessitated exclusion from the study.

Five male subjects were selected. All were experienced in pulmonary function testing procedures in addition to meeting specified criteria. The subjects ranged in

age from 29 to 45 years, with a mean age of 35 years. Table 3.1 provides anthropometric information for each subject.

3.2.2 Experimental Protocol

The technique used to mechanically ventilate the participants was fashioned after the method developed by Otis *et al.* in 1950. The technique is based on the integration of respiratory driving pressure with respect to lung volume change. The subjects were trained to relax and permit a respirator to passively ventilate the lungs. A sinusoidal pump having a controlled tidal volume and frequency was employed to measure respiratory work, dynamic compliance and flow resistance using this technique. Inspiratory and expiratory phases shared equal timing due to the sinusoidal wave form. The rate of respiration was randomly altered in successive trials,

10 bpm< 7 _b <30bpm,

to produce ventilatory increments within the normal range of

20 L.min⁻¹< V _F <60 L.min⁻¹.

The stroke volume of the respirator remained at a fixed value of approximately 2.0 liters. Carbon dioxide was scrubbed from the system to prevent hypercapnia causing the initiation of voluntary ventilatory effort. Simultaneous measurement of the lung volume and pressure difference between the driving pressure at the mouth or airway opening and the system relaxation pressure (ie. breathing gas'supply pressure) allowed the construction of the pressure-volume diagram and hence the analysis of respiratory work.

Measurements were performed in the upright seated position at 1 ATA under the following experimental conditions:

1. Dry.

1			· · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Subject Number	Age	Height cm	Weight	Vital
(unber			kg	L (BTPS)
·		,		
1	46	182.9	77.5	5.594
2	29	178.0	73.5	5.459
3	29	185.3	75.1	5.756
4	35	184.4	82.3	6.216
5	35	182.1	74.3	5.589
				•

Table 3.1: Subject anthropometric information

Immersed to the chin breathing air at mouth pressure (P m). Immersed to the chin breathing air supplied at lung centroid pressure (P _{LC}).

Immersed to the chin breathing air supllied at lung centroid pressure while wearing a wetsuit.

Trials were also repeated at 2, 4, and 6 ATA with the subject immersed and breathing air delivered at $P_{1,C}$.

3.2.3 Dry Conditions

2.

3.

The trials made at 1 ATA with dry experimental conditions served as both a training session and a control for other experiments at similar ambient pressures. A second dry trial at surface pressure was conducted following all other experimental procedures in order to establish the possibility of serial effects on subject performance.

The subject, seated in the upright position, breathed quietly from the mouthpiece through the breathing circuit with the valve opened to allow chamber air to enter and leave the circuit. The nasal airway was occluded by a nose clip. At the end of a normal expiration, the subject relaxed and signaled the chamber tender to start the trial. The valve was immediately closed by the tender, who simultaneously signalled the experimenter outside the chamber to engage ∉he respirator and start the data collection program. The respirator passively ventilated the subject with full respiratory loops for twenty seconds while the subject relaxed with an open glottis. Following the twenty second data collection period, an audio signal was sounded. At this point the tender opened the valve on the breathing circuit, allowing the subject to ventilate independently. The respirator was disengaged momentarily, then reset to its starting position at end expiration (lowest lung volume). Breathing frequencies of 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 breaths per minute were used in conjunction with an approximate 2.0 L tidal volume, resulting in five consecutive trials. Balanced design determined the order of the breathing frequencies. Trials were repeated when requested by the subject, or when the experimenter was dissatisfied with the data.

3.2.4 Immersed Conditions at 1 ATA

When immersed, the hydrostatic forces applied to the body create a transrespiratory hydrostatic pressure imbalance between the thoracic surface and the airway opening or mouth (when P $_{ao}$ =P $_{m}$). The hydrostatic imbalance is countered by elastic forces generated in response to a change (decrease) of lung volume. Lung centroid pressure, P_{LC} , has been defined as the hydrostatic breathing pressure required to return the immersed lung relaxation volume to the level which exists in air (Taylor, 1987). It is theorized that the lung centroid pressure is equal to the mean hydrostatic pressure acting on the outside of the thorax during immersion (ie. P $_{LC}$ =P $_{bs}$). Hence when the static breathing pressure P $_{ao}$ is raised to P $_{LC}$ the hydrostatic imbalance between thoracic surface pressure P $_{bs}$ and airway opening P $_{ao}$ is removed. The location of the lung centroid was identified by Taylor (1987) to be 13.6 cms inferior to the sternal notch when in the upright position and 7.0 cms posterior to the sternal notch when supine.

Seated in the upright position, the subject performed the same experimental procedures as in the dry conditions with two variations of experimental environment. Firstly, water in the chamber reached the subject's chin, creating a hydrostatic pressure imbalance across the thorax. Secondly, the subject performed the trials at both uncompensated (mouth) and compensated (lung centroid) breathing pressures. The water temperature ranged from 30° C to 35° C assuring thermal comfort to the swimming trunk clad subject.

During immersion, the subject breathed from a demand regulator attached to the breathing circuit when not being ventilated by the respirator. When breathing at P_{LC} , the demand regulator and a pressure compensator, a device that offsets the hydrostatic pressure imbalance across the pressure transducer, was lowered to the predetermined level of the subject's lung centroid. In addition, the subject was required to wear a neoprene diving hood in an attempt to compensate for facial pressure gradients when breathing at lung centroid pressure. At high rates of ventilation the hands were also used to further restrict cheek motion by applying

direct pressure to the area.

A special case of the immersed – lung centroid trial condition at 1 ATA involved the use of a wetsuit. Each subject donned a 3/8" neoprene wetsuit which included both a full length long-john and a jacket. Weights were attached to hold the subject down in the seated position. Breathing gas pressure was supplied at lung centroid level. It was predicted that the additional compression on the chest wall by the wetsuit would make inspiration noticably more difficult where as expiration would exhibit no difference than with the control lung centroid trials. The wetsuit data is only compared to the immsersed-lung centroid trials in the results section and not to the 1 ATA dry and immersed trials without hydrostatic pressure compensation due to their incompatibility of trial factors.

3.2.5 Raised Ambient Pressures

Test procedures were repeated in the immersed state at raised ambient pressures of 2, 4, and 6 ATA. At 2 ATA and 4 ATA, data was collected only when breathing at P_{LC}. At 6 ATA, test procedures were performed with hydrostatic pressure compensation (P_{LC}) and with uncompensated air supply (P_m). During uncompensated breathing pressure trials, problems were experienced with large negative dynamic pressures (P_{ao}) during the expiratory phase. Presumably, the negative pressures resulted from upper airway constriction. As a result, these large negative pressure transients caused subject discomfort, and made it difficult to maintain complete relaxation.

3.2.6 Post-Dive Procedures

Following the testing procedures at depth, decompression commenced according to the Canadian Armed Forces Diving Tables and Procedures (D.C.I.E.M., February 1986 revision). Both the subject and the tender were required to remain under observation in the laboratory for a further sixty minutes following decompression as a safety precaution against the remote possibility of latent bends.

3.3 Compliance and Pulmonary Function Tests

Vital capacity (VC), maximum inspiratory capacity (IC), expiratory reserve volume (ERV), and forced expired volume (FEV $_{1.0}$) for each subject were measured in dry conditions using standard spirometric techniques. Appendix A contains a table of the subject data. Robertson *et al.* (1978) calculated FRC to be approximately 64% of VC. FRC could not be measured while the subject was coupled to the mechanical ventilator. Hence the FRC of each subject was calculated to be 64% of VC for subsequent use in the building of regression coefficients. As a safety precaution during mechanical ventilation trials, tidal volume was never implemented above 75% of IC. FEV $_{1.0}$ is measured as the volume of air expired with maximum effort in 1.0 second following a maximum inspiration. A standard 9.0 L Collins respirometer model P-900 (W.E. Collins Inc.) was used to collect the desired data.

The static respiratory compliance curve was measured to provide comparison with the dynamic compliance obtained through artificial respiration. The respiratory compliance curve was procured by the performance of a series of static pressure-volume relaxation maneuvers over the volume range from residual volume to total lung capacity and vice versa. While seated in the upright position, the subject was trained to open his glottis against an occluded airway. This training procedure initially was performed at maximal inspiratory capacity, and repeated until consistent values were obtained. The procedure was then repeated at maximal expiratory volumes. When the subject felt ready to do the complete test, he inspired fully followed by expiratory increments of approximately 500 mL to 1000 mL until maximum expiratory capacity, RV, was reached. At each level of lung volume the airway was occluded and P_{an} recorded when stable before the next expiratory effort was made. The procedure was repeated beginning with a maximum expiration followed by inspiratory increments of similar volumes. Several recordings were made by each subject. A third order polynomial was fitted to the data representing the total static compliance curve. All five subjects had produced static compliance curves in the past and thus had previous training.

3.4 Data Analysis

3.4.1 Calculations

The data collected for the six environmental conditions was converted into units of pressure and volume and then smoothed before calculations began. A five point smoothing technique developed by Lancos (1965) according to the equation

$$(-3 \cdot x_{i-2} + 12 \cdot x_{i-1} + 17 \cdot x_{i} + 12 \cdot x_{i+1} - 3 \cdot x_{i+2}) \cdot (35)^{-1}$$
(3.1)

was used for this purpose. The work of breathing, respiratory compliance and total respiratory resistance were calculated with the aid of computer programs. Specifically, the work of breathing was calculated from the data for inspiratory work, expiratory work, elastic work, and flow resistive work, as a function of the equation

$$Work = \int P\delta V. \tag{3.2}$$

Total respiratory work is represented by the summation of inspiratory and expiratory work, which in turn are summations of positive elastic and flow resistive work. Flow resistive work is derived from the integration of total resistive work over a complete respiratory cycle. Four subdivisions of dynamic respiratory work exist:

positive inspiratory (WIP) positive expiratory (WEP) negative inspiratory (WIN) negative expiratory (WEN)

$$W_{IS} = (W/P - WEN) + (WEP - W/N)$$
 (3.3)

Figure 3.5 illustrates the four flow-resistive work divisions by areas on the pressure-volume diagram.



Figure 3.5: Flow-resistive work divisions by area on the pressure-volume diagram.

W/P = BGFE WEP = D/HA WEN = EFD W/N = AHB.

Resistive work, inspiratory and expiratory, are illustrated in Figures 3.6 and 3.7, respectively. When end-tidal transrespiratory pressure equals or exceeds relaxation pressure, inspiratory flow resistive work equals positive inspiratory work minus elastic work (Figure 3.6) and expiratory resistive work equals elastic work minus negative expiratory work (Figure 3.7):

$$W_{res(i)} = W/P - elastic work$$

 $W_{res(i)} = ABCD - ACD$

 $W_{res(e)} = elastic work - WEN$ (3.5) $W_{res(e)} = ACD - AECD$

(3.4)

$$W_{el} = 0.5 \cdot (\Delta P \cdot \Delta V)$$
(3.6)
$$W_{el} = ACD.$$

For situations where the end-expired transrespiratory pressure is less than relaxation pressure, different areas on the pressure-volume diagram give the correct results. Inspiratory resistive work equals all inspiratory work minus inspiratory elastic work. Similarly, expiratory resistive work equals all expiratory work minus expiratory elastic work. Figures 3.8 and 3.9 schematically represent these relationships.

 $W_{res(e)} = total expiratory work - expiratory elastic work$ (3.8)



Figure 3.6: Inspiratory resistive work when the end-tidal transrespiratory pressure equals or exceeds relaxation volume.



Figure 3.7: Expiratory resistive work when the end-tidal transfespiratory pressure equals or exceeds relaxation volume.







Figure 3.9: Expiratory resistive work when the end-tidal transrespiratory pressure is less than relaxation volume.

Positive elastic work for a complete breathing cycle

$$W_{el} = 0.5(P_{max} - P_0)(V_{max} - V_0) + 0.5(P_0 - P_{min})(V_0 - V_{min})$$
(3.9)
$$W_{el} = CFE + CHA.$$

Values of respiratory work were normalized to a value of one litre by dividing the work of a particular cycle by the tidal volume. The resultant work was expressed in joules per litre (JL^{-1}) .

Compliance, the tissues capacity to distend with inflation, was calculated using the following equation:

$$C_{dyn}(rs) = \Delta V \cdot \Delta P^{-1}$$
(3.10)

Dynamic compliance is the ratio of tidal volume to pressure change between two points of zero gas flow at either end of the tidal excursion (Mead and Milic-Emili, 1964; Taylor, 1987). Compliance is reported in units of $L \cdot kPa^{-1}$.

Resistance at any point in the breathing cycle is calculated by dividing the resistive pressure at point *i* by the corresponding rate of flow. Resistance is then reported at a specified flow rate, commonly 0.5 L.sec⁻¹. In addition to 0.5 L.sec⁻¹, resistance was calculated at rates of flow of 1.0 L.sec⁻¹ and 2.0 L.sec⁻¹. Resistance is reported in units of $kPa.L^{-1}.sec$.

$$Resistance = P_{res} \cdot \dot{V}^{-1} \tag{3.11}$$

Resistive pressure at any point *i* is calculated by subtracting elastic pressure from transrespiratory pressure at the desired instant. Elastic pressure must be calculated first in order that resistive pressure be determined.

$$P_{el} = P_{min} + (V_i - V_{min}) \cdot (\Delta P \cdot \Delta V^{-1})$$

 $P_{res} = P_{rs} - P_{el}$

(3.13)

(3.12)

3.4.2 Statistical Analysis

Repeated measures analyses of variance were performed on the respiratory work and resistance data to test for the effects of independent factors on the calculated results. With respect to respiratory work, two factors were considered: rate of ventilation and experimental design (condition at 1 ATA, and density with the trials performed at different ambient pressures). Respiratory resistance data was identified as having three factors: flow rate, lung volume, and density. Any interaction between the factors would be indicated by the analyses of variance as well. Significant differences in the effects were subsequently treated with Tukey's HSD test to show the level or levels within the factors where the differences in means occur. A significant difference was assumed to exist when a probability of p<0.05 was achieved. Actual values of probability are quoted in the results.

Complications arise while attempting to fit explanatory equations to data when interactions between factors occur. Interaction is the condition where the relationship of interest is different at different levels of the extraneous variables (Kleinbaum *et al.*, 1988). Multiple regression analysis is required when interactions exist in order to design an appropriate predictive model. Several predictor variables can be applied, but since physiological knowledge is available, constraints on the variables can be made.

The problem of developing the *best* equation to the present data is confounded by the repeated measures nature of the data. If one chooses to treat all the data as independent measures, a model could be developed and tested. Such a manipulative technique is not entirely sound statistically due to the actual dependence of data points with one another, in addition to the wide variance obtained due to the

differences in subjects. An alternative method is to apply a single-outcome regression model with variables that relate theoretically to respiratory work and respiratory resistance. The coefficients for the variables for each subject vary within a normal distribution for the true population. That is, although the coefficients are not expected to be identical for different people, the variance of the coefficients β_0 , β_1 , and β_2 , are normally distributed.

The best estimate for each coefficient β_i , when considering the sample population, is the mean of the estimates, which is β_i and described by the equation below:

$$\beta_{i} = \Sigma \beta_{ij} / n$$

(3.14).

Similarly, the variance of the mean of the estimate, $Var(\beta_i)$ is calculated to include the average of the individual coefficient variance for each subject in addition to the mean coefficient variance. This is the method that is used to develop the coefficients for the predictor models for both work and resistance.

3.4.3 Respiratory Work Model

$$W = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \cdot \dot{V} + \beta_2 \cdot D \cdot \dot{V}^2.$$
 (3.15)

In this equation, W represents work in J.L⁻¹, V represents ventilation rate in L.min⁻¹, and D represents the gas density relative to air at one atmosphere (ie. at 1 ATA, D=1). β_0 , the constant coefficient, was included in the theoretical regression equation based on the results of the data collected. A constant coefficient would be required if respiratory hysteresis exists. The concept of respiratory hysteresis is discussed in

Chapter 6. This equation is based on the physiological knowledge that respiratory flow has both laminar and turbulent components. The former is more prevalent with normal atmospheric and physiological conditions. With laminar flow, respiratory pressure varies directly with flow rate. However, when flow becomes turbulent, respiratory pressure varies with the square of flow rate. The degree of confidence of the equation was ascertained by the imposition of limits, based on regression coefficients and the standard error of the estimate.

3.4.4 Respiratory Resistance Model

Respiratory resistance has three physiological factors that must be accounted for in a model: gas flow rate, gas density, and lung volume. The partly laminar and partly turbulent nature of respiratory airflow indicates that the value of resistance will increase as gas flow rate increases. Since turbulent flow has a greater contribution to the total, resistance will increase at a greater rate with raised gas density. The length and diameter of the airways change with lung volume: at low lung volumes. airway resistance should be greater and at high lung volumes, airway resistance should be smaller. DuBois (1964) and McKenna et al. (1973) have suggested that resistance is inversely proportional to lung volume. With inspiration, the lungs and chest cavity are expanded. As the size of the lungs increase, the airways increase proportionately (DuBois, 1964). Considering Poiseuille's Law regarding laminar flow (Equation 1.2), the resistance term k_1 is proportional to the inverse of the cube of dimension (L³, where L represents dimension), or $k_1 \alpha L^{-3}$. Likewise, volume is proportional to dimesion cubed, or (V α L³). Hence, k₁ α V⁻¹, and is a linear term. The turbulent component of resistance is not as easily dissected to illustrate its relationship with lung volume as airway geometry is a prevelent factor. From the equation of airway turbulence (Equation 1.4), the term k_2 is proportional to L or

$k_2 \alpha l \cdot r^{-s} \alpha L^{-4}$.

As volume varies with L^3 , it might be approximated that $k_2 \alpha V^{-1.25}$, assuming the effects of volume on radius, r, and airway length, l are proportional. In this study, lung volume has therefore been modelled with equal contribution for both the laminar and the turbulent components of resistance (ie. R αV^{-1}) since the exact relationship

is unknown. Briefly, the regression equation developed to describe respiratory resistance applies the laws of laminar and turbulent flow, and Poiseuille's Law as follows:

(3.16)

$$R = (\beta_0 + \beta_1 \cdot \dot{V} \cdot D) \cdot V^{-1}$$

where D is density (ATA), V is flow (L sec $^{-1}$), and V is lung volume (L).

RESULTS: RESPIRATORY WORK

Respiratory work is reported in this chapter under two categories. The first is work at 1 ATA ambient pressure only; the second is work at ambient pressures of 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Respiratory work values are reported for five work types: elastic, inspiratory flow-resistive, expiratory flow-resistive, total flow-resistive, and total respiratory work.

4.1 Work at 1 ATA

Three experimental conditions were performed at 1 ATA. First, subjects were mechanically ventilated while seated in a dry environment. This condition will be referred to as "dry" in the remainder of the chapter. Second, the subjects were mechanically ventilated while seated in water to the level of the chin. No hydrostatic pressure compensation was supplied to the subject during this trial. This trial type will be referred to as "immersed – mouth" throughout the chapter due to the breathing gas supply pressure being at the level of the mouth (P_m). Third, the subjects were mechanically ventilated while seated in water to chin level. Breathing gas supply pressure was compensated to lung centroid pressure (P_{LC}) for each subject. Hence, this trial type will be referred to as "immersed – lung centroid".

The theoretically based regression equation relating work with rate of ventilation was not fitted to the data at 1 ATA due to the limited number of data points. Each subject and each condition would be considered separately and thus the equation, with two degrees of freedom, would be fit to a total of five points. Instead, the mean data and subject error are graphically displayed for each condition to illustrate the differences in the conditions. Subject error is the standard deviation of work values between subjects. A best fit curve with positive coefficients is fitted through the data, but no coefficient of correlation is reported.

4.1.1 Elastic Work

An analysis of variance performed on the elastic work data showed no significant difference of elastic work between the tested rates of ventilation. However, a significant difference was found with the condition factor (p<.05). The mean values of elastic work for the three conditions and their associated variances are shown in Table 4.1. Tukey's HSD test revealed that a significant difference does exist between the dry and immersed-mouth trials (p<.05[and between immersed-mouth and immersed-lung centroid trials (p<.05). No significant difference was found between the dry and immersed-lung centroid conditions.

4.1.2 Inspiratory Flow-resistive Work

Analysis of variance revealed a significant difference in flow resistive work between the different test conditions (p<.01) and at different rates of ventilation (p<.005). *Post hoc* analysis indicate that with respect to the three environmental conditions, a significant difference does exist between dry and immersed-mouth trials (p<.05) and between immersed-lung centroid and immersed-mouth (p<.05) trials, but not between dry and immersed-lung centroid trials. With respect to changes in ventilation, paired t-tests indicated that significant differences in work were not found between all adjacent levels of ventilation. However, in general the resistive work was greater (p<.05) at higher rates of ventilation. Figure 4.1 illustrates the mean values and subject error for each ventilation rate.

4.1.3 Expiratory Flow-resistive Work

Unlike the inspiratory flow-resistive work results, analysis of variance found no significant differences between environmental conditions. The rate of ventilation factor produced significant differences in work values (p<.05). *Post hoc* analyses indicated that significant differences in work values did not occur between consecutive minute ventilations, but on a broader scale. The highest rate of ventilation, 60 L.min⁻¹, produced expiratory resistive work values significantly different from all other rates of ventilation (p<.05). Similarly, expiratory flow-resistive work at 50 L.min⁻¹ differed from work at all other rates of ventilation

Table 4.1: Mean elastic work at each experimental condition performed at one atmosphere pressure.

CONDITION

ELASTIC WORK (J.L.)

Dry	0.724 ± 0.177
Immersed-Mouth	1.218 ± 0.576
Immersed-Lung Centroid	0.894 ± 0.831



Figure 4.1: Relationship of inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA. Dry, immersed-mouth, and immersed-lung centroid experimental conditions.

(p<.05). Figure 4.2 illustrates the mean work and subject error results. Note that although the mean value of expiratory flow-restive work at each minute ventilation is higher for the immersed-mouth trial than for the remaining two conditions, the variance in the work values reduces the chance of significance.

4.1.4 Total Resistive Work

Analysis of variance showed a significant difference (p<.05) with regards to the condition effect. A difference in flow-resistive work values occurred between dry and immersed-mouth trials (p<.05), but not between immersed-mouth and immersed-lung centroid or dry and immersed-lung centroid trials.

The rate of ventilation effect on total resistive work was also significant (p<0.01). The difference in flow-resistive work due to increasing minute ventilations was not found consistently between consecutive rates but rather in a broader fashion across the entire range of ventilations. All tested rates of ventilation produced total resistive work values significantly less than those obtained at 60 L.min⁻¹ (p<.05). The differences in the experimental conditons are illustrated in Figure 4.3.

4.1.5 Total Respiratory Work

Analysis of variance showed significant rate of ventilation and environmental condition effects (p<.001). No interaction between the two factors occurred. Tukey's HSD test indicated that a difference does exist between total work values obtained during dry and immersed-mouth trials (p<.05). Likewise, a difference in respiratory work does exist between immersed-mouth and immersed-lung centroid trials (p<.05). No difference was found between total work obtained in dry and immersed-lung centroid trials (p<.05). No difference was found between total work obtained in dry and immersed-lung centroid trials (p<.05). Figure 4.4 graphs the means of the total respiratory work values with increasing minute ventilation.



Figure 4.2: Relationship of expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA. Dry, immersed-mouth, and immersed-lung centroid experimental conditions.

-53







Figure 4.4: Relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA. Dry, immersed-mouth, and immersed-lung centroid experimental conditions.

55.

4.1.6 Analysis of the Five Respiratory Work Components

Individual work components for the immersed – lung centroid condition are plotted against increasing minute ventilation in Figure 4.5. The figure serves to illustrate the relative magnitude of the respiratory work components. Tukey's HSD test indicated a significant difference between inspiratory and expiratory flow-resistive work in the immersed-lung centroid condition (p<.05), but not with the other two conditions.

4.1.7 Wetsuit Versus Control Immersed-Lung Centroid Trials

An analysis of variance was performed on immersed-lung centroid data obtained when subjects wore only a swimsuit, and when wearing a wetsuit. Elastic work did not differ significantly having mean values of 0.894 ± 0.831 J.L⁻¹ and 1.037 ± 0.221 J.L⁻¹ for swimsuit and wetsuit trials, respectively.

Inspiratory resistive work was significantly different with wetsuit and swimsuit conditions (p<.05), with work higher while wearing the wetsuit. Figure 4.6 illustrates the relationship for the two conditions at the five tested rates of ventilation. Analysis of variance displayed no differences in expiratory flow-resistive work between the two conditions (p<.05). Expiratory flow-resistive Work values are displayed graphically in Figure 4.7.

Total resistive work for the two trial conditions to be significantly different (p<.05). The relationship of total resistive work with ventilation rate is illustrated in Figure 4.8.

The analysis of variance performed on total respiratory work indicated a condition effect (p=.05). The relationships relating total respiratory work to increasing minute ventilation while immersed and wearing a swimsuit and wetsuit are illustrated in Figure 4.9.

RESPIRATORY WORK COMPONENTS vs. VENTILATION IMMERSED-LUNG CENTROID; 1 ATA 2.50 2 25 O INSPIRATORY RESISTIVE WORK EXPIRATORY RESISTIVE WORK 2.0Ò~ △ TOTAL RESISTIVE WORK TOTAL RESPIRATORY WORK 1.75 ELASTIC WORK CONSTANT WORK (J^{-1}) 1.50 1.25 囟 1.00 0.75 \Box 0.50 0.25 0.00 -10 20 30 40 \mathbf{O} 50 60 VENTILATION (L·min⁻¹)

Figure 4.5: The relationship of respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation in the immersed experimental environment with hydrostatic pressure compensation at 1 ATA. (Elastic, inspiratory flow-resistive, expiratory flow resistive, total flow-resistive and total respiratory work values)





Figure 4.6: The relationship of inspiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.



Figure 4.7: The relationship of expiratory flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit 'vs. swimming trunks.








Figure 4.9: The relationship of total respiratory work with increasing minute ventilation while seated immersed and breathing with hydrostatic pressure compensation: wetsuit vs. swimming trunks.

4.2 Respiratory Work at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA

One experimental condition, immersion to the chin with hydrostatic pressure compensation of the breathing gas delivery pressure to lung centroid level, termed "immersed-lung centroid", was tested in this particular set of experimental procedures. Four pressure environments were applied to the testing condition. These ambient pressures were 1 ATA (surface), 2 ATA (10 m.s.w.), 4 ATA (30 m.s.w.), and 6 ATA (50 m.s.w.). The calculated data was subjected to analyses of variance to test for significant differences among the ventilatory and density factors. Tukey's HSD test further identified the differences within the factors. The theoretically developed regression equations accounting for density-ventilation interaction were fitted to the data based on the theory of laminar and turbulent air flow components in respiration. Individual regression equations and coefficient variance for the five work types are presented in Appendix B.

4.2.1 Elastic Work

Repeated measures analysis of variance found no significant differences of elastic work to exist within either the density or the ventilation factors. Values of mean elastic work at each atmospheric pressure are shown in Table 4.2.

4.2.2 Inspiratory Flow-Resistive Work

The analysis of variance indicated that inspiratory flow-resistive work differed significantly with different ambient pressures (p<.05) and at different rates of ventilation (p<.001). Furthermore, a density-ventilation interaction (p<.005) was identified. Tukey's HSD test applied to the density effect identified significant differences in inspiratory flow-resistive work between 1 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05); 1 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05); and 2 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05).

Application of Tukey's test to the ventilation effect revealed that differences in inspiratory flow-resistive work values occurred at all levels of ventilation with the highest rate of ventilation, 60 L.min⁻¹ (p<.05). A general trend is indicated with higher rates of ventilation associated with higher work values (p<.05), although adjacent

•	PRESSURE (ATA)	ELASTIC WORK (J.L.1)	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>
	1	0.894 ± 0.831	
	2	0.686 ± 0.429	
	4	0.664 ± 0.367	<u> </u>
	6	0.745 ± 0.692	
r			

Table 4.2: Mean elastic work at each atmospheric pressure.

ventilations did not necessarily result in significant differences.

The theoretical regression polynomial fitted to the data produced the following result:

$$W = 0.186 + 0.0083 \dot{V} + 0.000032 D \dot{V}^{2}$$

$$r_{a}^{2} = 0.58 \qquad (r_{a} = 0.76)$$

Figure 4.10 displays the mean inspiratory flow-resistive work for the four densities at each rate of ventilation, with the theoretical regression equations superimposed on the data.

(4.1)

4.2.3 Expiratory Flow-Resistive Work

Analysis of variance showed that expiratory flow-resistive work in common with inspiratory flow-resistive work is affected by both ventilation (p<.001) and density (p<.001) factors. An interaction between the two factors was also identified (p<:001). Tukey's test indicated real differences in work values at 1 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05); 1 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.051); 2 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05); 2 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05).

The theoretical polynomial regression curve fitted to the data produced-thefollowing result:

> $W = 0.394 + 0.0048 \cdot \dot{V} + 0.000061 \cdot D \cdot \dot{V}^{2}$ (4.2) $r_{a}^{2} = 0.72 \qquad (r_{a} = 0.85)$

Figure 4.11 illustrates the mean expiratory flow-resistive work means for the four densities at each rate of ventilation The theoretical regression curves are superimposed on the mean data.









4.2.4 Total Flow-Resistive Work

Since total flow-resistive work is the summation of inspiratory and expiratory flow-resistive work, the statistical analysis and the graphed data would therefore summarize both components. According to the analysis of variance, a significant difference is found among resistive work values with respect to both density (p<.001) and the ventilation (p<.001) factors. An interaction between the two factors is also apparent (p<.001). With regards to density, significant differences were identified between 1 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05); 1 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05); 2 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05); and 4 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05).

The theoretical regression curve fitted to the data gave the following result:

 $W = 0.577 + 0.0129 \cdot V + 0.000094 \cdot D \cdot V^{2}$ $r_{a}^{2} = 0.75 , \qquad (r_{a} = 0.87)$

Figure 4.12 displays the mean total flow-resistive work means for the four densities at each rate of ventilation. The theoretically based regression equations are superimposed on the data.

4.2.5 Total Respiratory Work

Total respiratory work is a function of both elastic and flow-resistive work components. Analysis of variance exhibited significant differences (p<.0001) within the density factor and the ventilation factor. Additionally, it is highly probable (p<.0001) that an interaction between the two factors occurs. Tukey's HSD test identified significant differences in total respiratory work between 1 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05), 1 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05), 2 ATA and 4 ATA (p<.05), and 2 ATA and 6 ATA (p<.05).

The theoretical polynomial regression curve fitted to the data produced the following result:

$$W = 0.920 + 0.0121 V + 0.000084 D V^2$$

(4.4)

(4.3)



Figure 4.12: Total flow-resistive work with increasing minute ventilation at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA. Immersed - lung centroid.

Figure 4.13 illustrates the mean of total respiratory work for the four densities at each rate of ventilation with the theoretcal regression curves superimposed.

 $(r_{a} = 0.83)$

4.2.6 Analysis of the Five Respiratory Work Components

 $r_{a}^{2} = 0.68$

Individual work components for the ambient pressures of 1 ATA and 6 ATA are plotted against increasing minute ventilation in Figures 4.14 and 4.15, respectively. The data points represent the theoretical relationship derived for the empirical data of the previous figures. The present figures serve to illustrate the relative magnitude of the respiratory work components at each gas density. Total resistive work is clearly marked as the summation of both inspiratory and expiratory resistive work values. The addition of the elastic work component to the total resistive work component is also evident with the total respiratory work values.

The only two work components for which *post hoc* analysis is appropriate are inspiratory and expiratory resistive work values. The results of the analysis indicates that significant differences do exist between the two work components at all four air densities (p<.05). Significant differences between inspiratory and expiratory flow-resistive work also exist within the ventilation factor at all rates of ventilation (p<.05).

4.3 Ventilatory Power

Ventilatory power represents respiratory work performed over a unit of time (second). Power was calculated from the present results by multiplying the corresponding rate of ventilation to each work value (since work is presented in Joules per Litre). The power was then plotted versus increasing minute ventilations. Figure 4.16 illustrates the flow-resistive respiratory powers obtained at all four tested ambient pressures.







Figure 4.14: Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 1 ATA: immersed-lung centroid. Theoretical relationship derived from the experimental data.



Figure 4.15: Respiratory work components with increasing minute ventilation at 6 ATA: immersed-ling centroid. Theoretical relationship derived from experimental data.





CHAPTER 5

RESULTS: RESPIRATORY RESISTANCE AND COMPLIANCE

5.1 <u>Respiratory</u> <u>Resistance</u>

Resistance was calculated from the experimental data and its variance examined with three variables: gas flow rate, lung volume, and gas density. The data of only four of the five subjects was used to calculate the results due to the non-physiological behavior of the resistances provided by one subject.

Respiratory resistance is the result of resistive pressure divided by the rate of flow. Flow rates of ± 3.0 L sec⁻¹ are not uncommon with respect to human respiratory function, at moderate to high levels of work and exercise. Since resistance values at high flow rates were not observed for all conditions of density and lung volume for all subjects, only those values measured at flows of ± 1.0 L.sec⁻¹ and ± 2.0 L.sec⁻¹ were analyzed.

5.1.1 Inspiratory Resistance: Density Trials

Three separate analyses of variance were run on the respiratory resistance data calculated at 1, 2, 4, and 6 ATA in the immersed-lung centroid condition. The first was with respect to density itself, the second to lung volume and the third to rate of flow. With density as the only factor, the analysis of variance indicated that a difference in resistances did not exist with the different densities at p<.05.

Four lung volumes, 1000 mL, 500 mL, 0 mL, and -500 mL, were used in the second analysis of variance since these were the only four volumes that had data for all subjects across all densities and selected flow rates. The results of the analysis of variance indicate a significant effect of lung volume on values of resistance (p<.0005). *Post hoc* analysis showed high levels of lung volume to have significantly lower resistances than low lung volumes (p<.05), but no difference was shown between lung volumes of 0 mL and -500mL or 500mL and 1000mL. The volume of 0 mL is the immersed unoccluded relaxation volume and actually represents an absolute

lung volume of approximately 3700 mL.

The third analysis of variance compared the two rates of flow and found no difference to exist between them, when all densities and lung volumes were collapsed into a single cell.

A fourth analysis of variance tested the effects on resistance of all three factors simultaneously. A main effect in resistance with lung volume was found (p<.075). The other two factors, flow and density, were non-significant when considered alone, but showed significance as an interaction (p<.05). An interaction between all three variables was also identified (p<.10), suggesting that the variables do not effect resistance independently.

The results of the grouped analysis of variance lends support to the theoretically modelled regression equation which incorporates all lung volumes and flow rates for which data was collected. Individual subject regression coefficients are found in Appendix C. When grouped together, the coefficients for the predictor variables were calculated as follows:

> $R = [0.987 + (0.071 \cdot V \cdot D)] \cdot V^{-1}$ $r_{a}^{2} = 0.79 \qquad (r_{a} = 0.89)$

Figure 5.1 illustrates the theoretically based interactive relationship of inspiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume, and air flow rate at a selected flow rate of 1.0 L.sec⁻¹.

(5.1)

5.1.2 Expiratory Resistance: Density Trials

The three variables, density, flow rate and lung volume were treated with three separate analyses of variance in the same manner as the inspiratory resistance data. Values of resistance were subject to a density effect (p<.000T). *Post hoc analysis* indicate that significant differences exist between resistances at 6 ATA and 1 ATA, and 6 ATA and 2 ATA (p<.05). The second analysis of variance also showed a



Figure 5.1: The theoretically based interactive relationship of inspiratory resistance with gas density, lung volume and air flow rate at a flow rate of 1.0 L.sec⁻¹.

significant effect in terms of differences in resistance values with lung volume changes (p<.0001). *Post hoc* tests showed that resistance tends to increase as lung volume decreases, with a significant difference found between resistances at lung volumes of 1000mL and -500mL. As with the inspiratory resistive data, flow rate when viewed as an independent variable did not produce significant differences in the resistance values. A fourth analysis of variance applied to a full model incorporating all three variables exhibited significant main effects on resistance with both lung volume (p<.05) and flow (p<.005), but not with respect to density. Further, an interaction between the two significant variables was indicated (p<.05). Applying the theoretically derived regression equation to all expiratory resistance data to obtain estimates of the coefficients of the predictor variables resulted in the following:

> $R = [1.258 + (0.122 \cdot V \cdot D)] \cdot V^{-1}$ $r_{a}^{2} = 0.78 \qquad (r_{a} = 0.88)$

(5.2)

Figure 5.2 illustrates graphically the theoretical relationship of expiratory resistance with air flow, gas density, and lung volume.

A paired t-test was run on the resistance data to test whether the observed differences with inspiration and expiration were significant. The results of the test indicate that a significant difference does exist between the two phases of respiration with regard to resistance (p<.05). Table 5.1 displays the mean resistances at a rate of flow of 1.0 L.sec⁻¹. Resistances at three lung volumes are presented at 1 ATA and 6 ATA respectively.

5.1.3 Inspiratory and Expiratory Resistance at 1 ATA

The four experimental conditions investigated at an ambient pressure of 1 ATA were analysed for differences between conditions with inspiratory and expiratory resistance as the dependent variables. An analysis of variance was performed on inspiratory and expiratory data in which two flow rates (1.0 L.sec⁻¹ and 2.0 L.sec⁻¹) at





LUNG VOLUME (Absolute)	1 ATA Inspiration	Expiration	6 ATA Inspiration	Expiration
4.3 L	0.11	0.12	0.20	0.14
2.8 L	0.37	0.65	0.47	1.03

Table 5.1: Mean subject resistances at 1.0 L.sec 1.

three lung volumes (0 mL, 500mL, and 1000mL) of four subjects composed each condition cell. Significant differences were found for both inspiratory resistance (p<.005) and expiratory resistance (p=.05).

During the inspiratory phase, *post hoc* analysis performed on the data indicated that differences in resistance existed between the dry condition and immersed-mouth (p<.001) condition. Dry and immersed-lung centroid conditions exhibit no significant difference. A difference was found between immersed-lung centroid and immersed-mouth conditions (p<.005). No significant difference was found when comparing the wetsuit condition to the immersed-lung centroid (swimsuit) condition.

Expiration produced less distinct differences between the four experimental conditions. The wetsuit condition tended to exhibit higher expiratory resistances than the immersed-lung centroid (swimsuit) condition (p<.10).

5.2 Respiratory Compliance

The values of dynamic compliance, calculated for each subject at the four experimental conditions (1 ATA), are presented in table 5.3. The static compliance collected via spirometric techniques in the dry condition is also included. An analysis of variance performed on the dynamic compliance data (not including wetsuit trials) indicated that significant differences do exist with compliance between conditions (p<.01). An *post hoc* test of the data showed that these differences exist between dry and immersed-mouth trials (p<.01), and immersed-mouth and immersed-lung centroid trials (p<.05). No significant difference was found with the dry and immersed-lung centroid trial comparisons. Comparing the two immersed-lung centroid cases, swimming trunks and wetsuit, the analysis of variance indicates that a significant difference does exist with the dynamic compliances (p<.05).

Figure 5.3 illustrates the mean values of dynamic compliance for the four conditons at 1 ATA in addition to the mean static compliance value.

		DYNAMIC COMPLIANCE			STATIC COMPLIANCE
SUBJECT NUMBER	DRY	IMMERSED MOUTH	IMMERSED LUNG CENTROID	WETSUIT	SPIROMETER
				¢	<u>~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~</u>
1	1.01	0.85	0.95	0.88	1.31
2	1.07	0.75	1.13	0.70	1.29
3	1.17	1.03	1.26	0.74	0.91
4	0.98	0.78	1.02	0.62	0.61
5	0.76	0.66	0.66	0.56	0.69
Average	1.00±0.15	0.81±0.14	1.00±0.22	0.70±0.12	0.96±0.33
	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,</u>	·			····

Table 5.3: Static and Dynamic Compliance at 1 ATA.





Figure 5.3: Mean dynamic and static compliance at 1 ATA.

5.3 Repetition of Dry Trials at 1 ATA

Trials performed in the dry experimental condition were repeated after the completion of all other test procedures to evaluate if a learning or habituation response did exist. Paired t-tests performed on the two conditions indicated that no significant difference did exist.

CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION

6.1 Respiratory Work.

Analysis of the flow-resistive respiratory work data from the present study showled an interaction to exist between the rate of ventilation and gas density. This lends some support to the theory of laminar and turbulent flow contributions to overall pressure loss across the system.

Regression analyses indicated that the proposed relationship relating flow-resistive work with ventilation and gas density explained approximately 82% of the data, across all work types, when all subjects were considered together. Some of the individual subject data were fitted by the equation better than others, indicating either the need for the inclusion of yet another physiological variable to the predictive model of respiratory work, or a varying contribution of random error in the quality of the subject relaxation.

A constant coefficient was added to the present theoretical model due to the fact that the resistive work data of all subjects appeared to miss the origin when the best fit curve was extrapolated to the ordinate (zero ventilation). In fact, values of work obtained at a ventilation rate of 20 L.min⁻¹ were often equal to or greater than those obtained at the adjacent ventilation rate of 30 L.min⁻¹. These data forced the regression curves upwards, suggesting the ability to obtain a resistive work value other than zero when no airflow is present.

Why resistive work was raised at the lowest rate of ventilation is not clear. One possibility stems from the slow cyclical rate of the breathing machine. With the tidal volume fixed at two litres, the breathing frequency was adjusted to ten breaths per minute to produce a ventilation rate of 20 L.min⁻¹. The frequency may have been too slow for the subjects, causing difficulty in remaining completely relaxed during the mechanical ventilation. Further, hypocaphia effects smooth muscle tone. It is possible that hypocaphia occured at the 20 L.min⁻¹ rate of mechanical ventilation. Alternatively, the constant term k_0 may reflect the presence or respiratory hysteresis, or a flow-independent friction component resisting movement of the thorax.

Pressure-volume curves for inflation and deflation are different when constructed over a moderate range of volume (Cotes, 1979). This pulmonary hysteresis, according to Cotes (1979) may be the result of surface tension. He suggests the the linear increase in volume with applied pressure in the middle section of the pressure-volume curve with inspiration represents work done in expanding the surface film which lines the alveoli. The difference in pressure with a given volume during expiration is therefore partially due to reduced surface tension.

Noting the values of the coefficients for the different work components with the density conditions, it is observed that expiratory flow-resistive work exceeds inspiratory flow-resistive work (Figures 4.14 and 4.15). This finding is similar to that of Taylor (1987) who reported greater pulmonary resistive work with expiration at 1 ATA. Referring back to the resistance findings of the present study, expiratory resistance was shown to have a greater turbulent flow contribution than inspiratory resistance. The energy cost of airflow turbulence is magnified with increased density. Therefore, if expiratory resistance is larger than inspiratory resistance due to increased air turbulence, it would be expected that expiratory flow-resistive work would also exceed inspiratory flow-resistive work.

Total respiratory work in normal men was calculated by Sharp *et al.* (1964) to be approximately 0.073 kg.m.L⁻¹ (0.716 J.L⁻¹) at rest in dry conditions. The present study's total respiratory work mean is higher than the former investigation, at 1.226 J.L⁻¹ with dry conditions (1 ATA), at a rate of ventilation of 20 L.min⁻¹.

The contribution of elastic work to total respiratory work, at 20 L.min⁻¹, was calculated to be 58% in the dry environment. The remaining 42% is therefore assumed to be flow-resistive work. These values are similar to those reported in the literature. Otis *et al.* (1950), using mechanical ventilation as the measurement

technique, reported the contributions of elastic work and flow-resistive work to be 63% and 37% respectively. McIlroy *et al.* (1954) reported a slightly higher elastic work contribution of 70%. Finally, Attinger and Segal (1959) reported flow-resistive work to contribute 38% to the total work of respiration.

With immersion, at rest, inspiratory flow-resistive work increased 81% from 0.43 J.L⁻¹ to 0.78 J.L⁻¹. Expiratory flow-resistive work increased from 0.47 J.L⁻¹ to 0.63 J.L⁻¹ with immersion, representing an increase of 34% at rest. The increase in both inspiratory and expiratory flow resistive work is far less than that reported by Taylor (1987). Inspiratory flow-resistive work increased from 0.071 J.L⁻¹ to 0.285 J.L⁻¹ and expiratory flow-resistive work increased from 0.127 J.L⁻¹ to 0.462 J.L⁻¹ with immersion. Taylor, however, made his measurements with the subject fully immersed as opposed to neck immersion in the present study. Therefore, the differences in the results would be expected. Secondly, Taylor measured only pulmonary flow-resistive work, whereas the present study included the chest wall. Thus changes in airway resistance would have a relatively smaller effect on the overall flow-resistive work in this study.

The relative increase in inspiratory flow-resistive work is greater than that reported by Hong *et al.* (1969). Hong and his co-workers reported the increase induced by a change from immersion to the xiphoid process to immersion at the neck. The smaller percentage increase of 57.4% can therefore be explained due to the smaller hydrostatic pressure change experienced.

Jarrett (1965), Craig and Dvorak (1975), and Flynn *et al.* (1975) all postulated improvements in resistive work during upright immersion with manipulations of breathing pressure. Taylor (1987) confirmed this hypothesis with breathing gas pressures supplied at P $_{LC}$ and P $_{LC+0.98 \text{ kPa}}$. The results of the present study support the findings of Taylor (1987). With breathing gas supply at P $_{LC}$, significant improvements were found with inspiratory and total flow-resistive work components. Although expiratory flow-resistive work was also expected to improve with breathing gas supplied at P $_{LC}$, the results indicated a non-significant

difference to exist. This non-significance may be due to non-linearity of the compliance curve at low lung volumes with uncompensated immersion. Since compliance was assumed to be linear in the calculations, inspiratory work may have been over-estimated and expiratory work underestimated as a direct result. This theory is supported with the density conditions since expiratory flow-resistive work exceeds inspiratory flow-resistive work at all gas densities with breathing gas supplied at P_{1C}.

6.2 Power

Flow-resistive power has been studied by several investigators, but the exact nature of the relationship with rate of ventilation is not conclusive. Linear, curvilinear, and exponential functions have all been suggested (Otis et al.; 1950; McIlroy et al., 1954; Fritts et al., 1959; Holmgren et al., 1973; Taylor, 1987). Figure 6.1 illustrates the respiratory flow-resistive power results of several investigators. Data is available only at 1 ATA. Note that the two studies that include chest wall resistance. Otis et al. (1950) and the present study, produce power curves with greater slopes. This suggests that the chest wall resistance is a significant force to be overcome with respiratory work, particularly at high rates of ventilation. From the present study, it may be suggested that 25% to 50% of respiratory power is used to overcome chestwall resistance. The work of Otis et al. (1950) suggests a much greater contribution of respiratory power to overcome chestwall resistance. The difference found in the two studies may possibily be accounted for by the methods of mechanical ventilation used. A Drinker respirator encloses the entire body up to the neck while the subject lies supine. The air pressure within the tank is altered, applying forces externally to the body. The breathing machine used in the present study allowed the subject to sit upright while the ventilator mechanically ventilated the lungs and airways. When supine, the lungs possess a lower lung volume. This decreases lung compliance and increases airflow resistance. These effects of posture may partially explain the difference in respiratory power values between the two mechanical ventilation studies.



- 👰 -

Figure 6.1: Respiratory flow-resistive power with increasing minute ventilation: the results of six studies.

6.3 <u>Respiratory</u> <u>Resistance</u>

The results of the present study support the theoretically derived equation (equation 1.7) relating resistance to gas flow rate, density, and lung volume. Resistance was found vary with the inverse of lung volume. This finding is in agreement with the work of McKenna *et al.* (1973).

Inspiratory and expiratory resistances were shown to differ. The results of the regression analysis indicated expiratory resistance has a larger laminar and turbulent component than inspiratory resistance by 27% and 72%, respectively. This finding, based on the estimated regression coefficients, suggests that turbulent airflow is more prevelant with expiration than with inspiration. Hence, airway diameters are smaller in expiratory flow.

The modelled regression equation fitted to the calculated values of inspiratory and expiratory resistance explained, on average, 89% and 88% of the data, respectively. A better model might be one that allows the effect of lung volume to differ with the laminar and turbulent flow components. A value of V^n , where *n* is constrained between 1.0 and 2.0 may be more appropriate for the turbulent flow component when considering the modelled equation for turbulent flow (Equation 1.4).

With immersion, the average resistance calculated at a flow rate of 1.0 L.sec⁻¹ increased 100% during inspiration, but did not change during expiration. Meanrespiratory resistance therefore was found to increase by 50%. The relative increase of respiratory resistance with immersion appears to fit well with results reported in the literature (refer to Table 2.2). Most of the studies have reported results for pulmonary resistance only. Lollgen *et al.* (1980), measured total respiratory system resistance and therefore their results may be directly compared with the present results. Lollgen reported average resistance to increase 57.4% with immersion. Taylor (1987) reported inspiratory and expiratory resistances, calculated at a mean flow rate of 0.5 L.sec⁻¹ to increase by 125% and 185% respectively with immersion. Total pulmonary resistance increased 155% with immersion. Taylor's resistance

values represent pulmonary resistance only, unlike the present study which also includes chestwall resistance. Hence, the large difference in resistances can be attributed to the difference in system compliance.

Sharp *et al.* (1964) measured average respiratory resistance to be 0.49 kPa.L⁻¹.sec in normal men. The present study reports a similar average resistance, at 1.0 L.sec⁻¹ and at relaxation volume, of 0.46 kPa.L.sec⁻¹. This resistance was obtained by taking the mean of the inspiratory and expiratory resistances with the given conditions. Both investigations employed similar mechanical measurement techniques.

6.4 Elastic Work and Compliance

Elastic work must be expended during inspiration in order to deform respiratory tissue (lung and chest wall). This energy is stored as potential energy and thus is available for assistance during expiration. Moderate to high rates of ventilation, high gas densities and external resistance increase flow-resistive work. When it exceeds inspiratory elastic work, expiration becomes an active process.

According to Morrison and Reimers (1982), when a subject is immersed, a hydrostatic pressure is applied to the thorax, disrupting the equilibrium established in air. A new relaxation volume is found at which the hydrostatic imbalance is compensated by the elastic recoil of the system. As a result, the pressure-volume curve is shifted to a new position. This rightward shift increases the amount of elastic work which must be expended during inspiration due to the non-linearity of the compliance curve (Agostoni *et al.*,1966; Craig and Ware, 1967; Hong *et al.*, 1969; Jarrett, 1965; Morrison and Reimers, 1982). In a later study Morrison *et al.* (1987) suggested that the hydrostatic imbalance is only partially compensated by elastic recoil during immersion, as subjects actively defend an ERV above relaxation volume. This effect limits the extent of change in system compliance.

Robertson *et al.* (1978) emphasize the blood shift into the thorax with immersion due to the compressive effect of water on the blood vessels and the extremities. Both TLC and VC are reduced as a result (Agostoni *et al.*, 1966; Arborelius *et al.*, 1972; Robertson *et al.*, 1978). Provision of breathing gas supply at P_{LC} shifts the pressure-volume curve to the left, returning relaxation volume to its former position in air. Inspiratory elastic work is therfore reduced.

The comparison of dynamic compliance to static compliance (dry) provides a test of validity of the mechanical ventilation technique. If the respiratory muscles were active during the mechanical ventilation, measures of dynamic compliance would be effected. As an example, inspiratory muscle tone at end-inspiration would give reduced compliance, as present in voluntary respiration. Furthermore, the dynamic compliance was not affected by breathing frequency as no change was observed. This finding is in agreement with the study of Woolcock *et al.*, 1969, whose methods did not include the use of mechanical ventilation.

The values of compliance found in the present study agree with the findings of Sharp *et al.* (1964). Both studies found average total respiratory compliance to be approximately 0.10 L.kPa⁻¹. Both dry conditions and immersion with hydrostatic pressure compensation of breathing gas supply at P _{LC} showed very similar respiratory compliances, while the uncompensated immersion condition displayed a notably reduced mean dynamic compliance (81% of dry value).

An interesting observation is made when comparing mean dynamic compliance in the wetsuit condition with the uncompensated immersion condition. Compliances for the two conditons are very similar. This suggests that the addition of a wetsuit eliminates the positive effects of pressure compensation on respiratory compliance. The elastic properties of the neoprene compress the chest wall, lowering the relaxation volume to a new point of equilibrium. Inspiratory elastic work should subesquently be increased due to two factors: decreased respiratory compliance and the additional wetsuit compliance. Respiratory flow-resistive work would also be expected to increase as a result of reduced lung volume. Thus, it might be suggested

that when wearing a wetsuit, divers should be supplied with breathing gas at a pressure above P_{LC} in order to obtain optimum respiratory mechanics. Although a significant difference was not found in elastic work with the wetsuit and swimsuit constrions due to the large variance in the swimsuit work values, the tendency was for the wetsuit elastic work to be higher. Inspiratory and total flow-resistive works were significantly greater while wearing the wetsuit than when wearing only the swimsuit.

and the second

CHAPTER 7

CONCLUSIONS

Three objectives and three hypothesis were proposed for the present study at its onset. Through the experimental and analytical processes, the three objectives were achieved and the three hypotheses supported.

Flow-resistive work of breathing increased curvilinearly with increased minute ventilation, according to prescribed theoretical equations. Raised gas density was shown to increase flow-resistive respiratory work in a multiplicative manner within the turbulent flow component. Elastic work was shown to remain constant across minute ventilations and densities. Expiratory flow-resistive work was approximately double inspiratory flow-resistive work.

Immersion without hydrostatic pressure compensation was shown to increase both elastic and flow-resistive work. Dynamic respiratory compliance was reduced by 20%. Provision of breathing gas at a supply pressure of P _{LC} allowed for considerable improvement in respiratory work components moving them back towards their levels in dry conditions. Dynamic respiratory compliance was also restored to its preimmersion state.

A common diving apparel, the wetsuit, appeared to counteract some of the benefits of breathing gas supply at P _{LC} by lowering dynamic compliance to its position with uncompensated immersion. Inspiratory flow-resistive work, total flow-resistive work, and total respiratory work all were significantly larger than the corresponding swimsuit trials.

Respiratory resistance was affected by gas density, flow rate, and lung volume. As gas density and/or flow rate rise, so does resistance. As lung volume was lowered, resistance was increased. The manifestation of inspiratory resistance was shown to be different from expiratory resistance. The latter had a 67% larger turbulent flow contribution than the former, and was therefore more strongly influenced by increases in gas density and flow rate.

93

×.

The similarity of results to those reported in the literature, in addition to the similarity of dynamic and static compliance, supports mechanical ventilation as a useful research technique. Its non-invasive manner may make its employment as a research tool more common, particularly in alien environments and allow a greater number of divers to be studied in the context of respiratory mechanics and physiology. The greater the acquisition of knowledge, the greater the chance of its application in the design of power assisted breathing apparatus. Resistance and work limits can be employed in the design process, leading to an improvement in the safety of the underwater work environment.

- Agostoni, E. Action of respiratory muscles. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration 1.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- Agostoni, E, G.Gurtner, G. Torri, and H. Rahn. Respiratory mechanics during submersion and negative-pressure breathing. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology</u>. 21(1): 251-258; 1966.
- Ågostoni, E. and W.O. Fenn. Velocity of muscle shortening as a limiting factor in respiratory air flow. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>, 15(3): 349-353; 1960.
- Agostoni, E. and J. Mead. Statics of the respiratory system. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration 1</u>. Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 5. Arborelius, M., Jr., U. Balldin, B. Lila, and C. Lundgren. Hemodynamic changes in man during immersion with head above water. <u>Aerospace Medicine.</u> 43: 592-598; 1972.
- Arborelius, M., Jr., U. Balldin, B. Lila, and C. Lundgren. Regional lung function in man during immersion with the head above water. <u>Aerospace</u> <u>Medicine.</u> 43(7): 701-707; 1972.
- 7. Attinger, E. and Segal, M. Mechanics of breathing. II. The respiratory work. <u>American Review of Respiratory Diseases.</u> 80: 46-52; 1959.
- Ballam, G.O., T.L. Clanton, R.P. Kaminski, and A.L. Kunz. Effect of sinusoidal forcing of ventilatory volume on avian breathing frequency. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Physiology.</u> 59(3): 991-1000; 1985.
- Banzett, R.B., M.B. Reid, and J. Lehr. High frequency oscillation of the lungs alone lengthens expiration in dogs. <u>Respiration Physiology</u>. 61: 57-67; 1985
- Bartel, L.P., J.R. Bazik, and D.J. Powner. Compression volume during mechanical ventilation: Comparison of ventilators and tubing circuits. <u>Critical Care Medicine.</u> 13(10): 851-854; 1985.
- 11. Bates, J.H.T., A. Rossi, and J. Milic-Emili. Analysis of the behavior of the respiratory system with constant inspiratory flow. Journal of Applied Physiology. 58(6): 18401848; 1985.
- 12. Begin, R., M. Epstein, M. Sackner, R. Levinson, R. Dougherty, and D. Duncan. Effects of water immersion to the neck on pulmonary circulation and tissue volume in man. Journal of Applied Physiology. 40(3): 293-299; 1976.
- 13. Bergey, M. and H. Baier. Lung mechanical properties in the West Indian Manatee (Trichechus manatus). <u>Respiration Physiology</u>. 68: 63-75; 1987.
- Briscoe, W. and A. DuBois. The relationship between airway resistance, airway conductance and lung volume in subjects of different age and body size. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 37: 1275-1285; 1958.
- Bye, P.T.P., S.A. Esau, K.R. Walley, P.T. Macklem, and R.L. Pardy. Ventilatory muscles during exercise in air and oxygen in normal men. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Physiology: Respiratory, Environmental, and Exercise</u> <u>Physiology.</u> 56(2): 464-471; 1984.
- 16. Chalikian, J. and T. Weaver. Mechanical ventilation: where it's at; where it's going. <u>American Journal of Nursing.</u> 84(11): 1372-1379; 1984.
- 17. Chang, H.K. and A. Harf. High frequency ventilation: A review. <u>Respiration</u> <u>Physiology.</u> 57: 135-152; 1984.
- Craig, A., Jr. and D. Ware. Effect of immersion in water on vital capacity and residual volume of the lungs. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 23(4): 423-425; 1967.
- 19. Cunningham, D.J.C., and P.A. Robbins. The patterns of breathing in man in response to waves of alveolar carbon dioxide and hypoxia. Journal of Physiology (London). 350: 475-486; 1984.
- Dahlback, G.O. Influence of intrathoracic blood pooling on pulmonary air-trapping during immersion. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 2: 133-140; 1975.
- Dahlback, G.O., E. Jonsson, M. Liner. Influence of hydrostatic compression of the chest and intrathoracic blood pooling on static lung mechanics during head-out immersion. <u>Undersea</u> <u>Biomedical</u> <u>Research.</u> 5: 71-85; 1978.
- 22. Dahlback, G.O., and C. Lundgren. Pulmonary air-trapping induced by water immersion. <u>Aerospace Medicine.</u> 43(7): 768-774; 1972.
- Davey, I.S., J.E. Cotes, and J.W. Reed. Relationship of ventilatory capacity to hyperbaric exposure in divers. <u>Journal of Exercise Physiology</u>: <u>Respiratory</u>, <u>Environmental and Exercise Physiology</u>. 56(6): 16551658; 1984.

24. Decramer, M., S. Kelly, and A. De Troyer. Respiratory, and Postural changes in intercostal muscle length in supine dogs. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology.</u> 60(5): 16861691; 1986

- Demedts, M. and N. Anthonisen. Effects of increased external airway resistance during steady-state exercise. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 35(3): 361-366; 1973.
- 26. Derenne, J-PH., P.T. Macklem, and CH. Roussos. The respiratory muscles: Mechanics, control, and pathophysiology. Part I. <u>American Review of</u> <u>Respiratory Disease.</u> 118(1): 119-133; 1978.
- 27. Derenne, J-PH., P.T. Macklem, and CH. Roussos. The respiratory muscles: Mechanics, control, and pathophysiology. Part III. <u>American Review of</u> <u>Respiratory Disease.</u> 118(3): 581-601; 1978.
- De Troyer, A., and V. Ninane. Respiratory function of intercostal muscles in supine dog: an electromyographic study. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology.</u> 60(5): 16921699; 1986.
- 29. DeWeese, E.L., T.Y. Sullivan, and P.L. Yu. Ventilatory response to high frequency airway oscillation in humans. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 58(4): 1099-1106; 1985.

- DuBois, A. Resistance to breathing. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- DuBois, A., A. Brody, D.Lewis, and B.F. Burgess, Jr. Oscillation mechanics of lungs and chest in man. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>, 8: 587-594; 1956.
- 32. Dwyer, J., H. Saltzman, and R. O'Bryan. Maximal physicalwork capacity of man at 43.4 ATA. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 4(4): 359-372; 1977.
- 33. Edmonds, C., C. Lowry, and J. Pennefather. <u>Diving and Subaguatic Medicine</u>, <u>2nd Ed.</u> Mosman, NSW, Australia: Diving Medical Center. 1981.
- 34. Estenne, M., J.C. Yernault, and A. De Troyér. Rib cage and diaphragm+abdomen compliance in humans: effects of age and posture. Journal of Applied Physiology. 59(6): 1842-1848; 1985.
- 35. Farhi, L. and D. Linnarsson. Cardiopulmonary Readjustments during graded immersion in water at 35 C. <u>Respiration Physiology</u>. 30: 35-50; 1977.
- Fenn, W.O. Introduction to the mechanics of breathing. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 37. Fenn, W.O. Mechanics of Respiration. <u>American Journal of Medicine</u>, 10:77-90; 1951.
- 38. Ferris, B.G.Jr., J. Mead, and L.H. Opie. Partitioning of respiratory flow resistance in man. Journal of Applied Physiology, 19(4): 653-658; 1964.
- Flynn, E.T.Jr., E.M. Camporesi, and S.A. Nunneley. Cardiopulmonary responses to pressure breathing during immersion in water. In: Lanphier, E.H. and H. Rahn (eds.). <u>Man, Water, Pressure.</u> <u>Volume</u> Buffalo, New York: State University of New York; 1975.
- 40. Fritts, H.Jr., J. Filler, A. Fishman, and A. Cournand. The efficiency of ventilation during voluntary hypernea: studies in normal subjects and in dyspneic patients with either chronic pulmonary emphysema or obesity. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 38: 1339-1348; 1959.
- 41. Gautier, H., R. Feslin, A. Grassino, J. Milic-Emili, B. Hannhart, E. Powell, G. Miserocchi, M. Bonora, and J.T. Fisher. Mechanical properties of the lungs during acclimatization to altitude. Journal of Applied Physiology. 52(6): 1407-1415; 1982.
- 42. George, R.J.D., R.J.D. Winter, S.J. Flockton, and D.M. Geddes. Ventilatory saving by external chest wall compression or oral high frequency oscillation in normal subjects and those with chronic airflow obstruction. <u>Clinical Science.</u> 69: 349-359; 1985.
- 43. Gottfried, S.B., B.D. Higgs, A. Rossi, F. Carli, P.M. Mengeot, P.M.A. Calverly, L. Zocchi, and J. Milic-Emili. Interrupter technique for measurement of respiratory mechanics in anesthetized humans. Journal of Applied Physiology. 59(2): 647-652; 1985.
- 44. Graves, C., L. Glass, D. Laporta, R. Meloche, A. Grassino. Respiratory phase locking during mechanical ventilation in anesthetized human subjects. <u>American Journal of Physiology.</u> 250(19): R902-R909; 1986.

- Grismer, J. and M. Goodwin. Field study of ventilation in volunteer scuba divers during head-out immersion. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 10(4): 311-320; 1983.
- 46. Guyton, A.C. <u>Textbook of Medical Physiology</u>, <u>6th edition</u>. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company; 1981.
- 47. Hickey, D.D. Outline of medical standards for divers. <u>Undersea Biomedical</u> <u>Research.</u> 11(4): 407–432; 1984.
- Holmgren, A., P. Herzog, and H. Astrom. Work of breathing during exercise in healthy young men and women. <u>Scandinavian Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Laboratory Investigation.</u> 31(2): 165-174; 1973.
- 49. Hong, S., P. Cerretelli, J. Cruz, and H. Rahn. Mechanics of respiration during submersion in water. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 27: 535-538; 1969.

1.

- Isabey, D., A. Harf, and H.K. Chang. Alveolar ventilation during high frequency oscillation: core dead space concept. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>: <u>Respiratory, Environmental and Exercise Physiology</u>. 56(3): 700-707; 1984.
- Jackson, A.C., J.W. Watson, and M.I. Kotlikoff. Respiratory system, lung, and chest wall impedances in anesthetized dogs. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology: Respiratory, Environmental</u>, and <u>Exercise</u> <u>Physiology</u>. 57(1): 34-39; 1984.
- 52. Jarrett, A.S. Effect of immersion on intrapulmonary pressure. Journal of <u>Applied Physiology</u>, 20: 1261–1266; 1965.
- Johnson, L., Jr. and J. Mead. Volume-pressure relationships during pressure breathing and voluntary relaxation. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 18(3): 505-508; 1963.
- Jones, G., K.J. Killian, E. Summers, and N.L. Jones. Inspiratory muscle forces and endurance in maximum resistive loading. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology.</u> 58(5): 1608-1615; 1985.
- Kanak, R., P.J. Fahey, and C. Vanderwarf. Oxygen cost of breathing: changes dependent upon mode of mechanical ventilation. <u>Chest.</u> 87(1): 126-127; 1985.
- 56. King, M., D.M. Phillips, A. Zidulka, and H.K. Chang. Tracheal mucus clearance in high-frequency oscillation; II: Chest wall versus mouth oscillation. <u>American Review of Respiratory Diseases.</u> 130(5): 703-706; 1984.
- Kleinbaum, D.G., L.L. Kupper, and K.E. Muller. <u>Applied Regression Analysis and</u> <u>Other Multivariate Methods.</u> Boston: PWS-KENT Publishing Company; 1988.
- 58. Krasney, J., G. Hajduczok, C. Akiba, B. McDonald, D. Pendergast, and S. Hong. Cardiovascular and renal responses to head-out water immersion in —canine model. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 11(2): 169-183; 1984.
- Lafortuna, C.L., A.E. Minetti, and P. Mognoni. <u>Inspiratory flow patterns in</u> humans. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology: Respiratory</u>, <u>Environmental and</u> <u>Exercise Physiology</u>. 57(4): 1111-1119; 1984.

- 60. Landser, F.J., J. Nagels, M. Demedts, L. Billiet, and K.P. van de Woestijne. A new method to determine frequency characteristics of the respiratory system. Journal of Applied Physiology. 41(1): 101-106; 1976.
- 61. Lanphier, E.H., and E.M. Camporesi. Respiration and Exercise. In: Bennett, P.B., and D.H. Elliot (eds.). <u>The Physiology and Diving of Medicine</u>, <u>3rd Ed.</u> London: Bailliere Tindall. 1982.
- 62. Lollgen, H., G. Nieding, and R. Horres. Respiratory and hemodynamic adjustment during head out water immersion. <u>International Journal of</u> <u>Sports Medicine.</u> 1: 2529; 1980.
- 63. Lundgren, C.E.G. Respiratory function during simulated wet dives. <u>Undersea</u> <u>Biomedical Research.</u> 11(2): 139147; 1984.
- 64. MacDonald, A.G. Hydrostatic pressure physiology. In: Bennett, P.B., and D.H. Elliot (eds.). <u>The Physiology and Medicine of Diving. 2nd Ed.</u> London: Bailliere Tindall. 1975.
- 65. Maio, D. and L. Farhi. Effect of gas density on mechanics of breathing. Journal of Applied Physiology. 23(5): 687-693; 1967.
- 66. MacIntyre, N.R. Respiratory function during pressure support ventilation. <u>Chest.</u> 89(5): 677-683; 1986.

 Margaria, R., G. Milic-Emili, J. Petit, and G. Cavagna. Mechanical work of breathing during muscular exercise. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 15(3): 354-358; 1960.

- 68. Marini, J.J., J.S. Capps, and B.H. Culver. The inspiratory work of breathing during assisted mechanical ventilation. <u>Chest.</u> 87(5): 612-618; 1985.
- Marini, J.J., B.H. Culver, and W. Kirk. Flow resistance of exhalation values and positive end-expiratory pressure devices used in mechanical ventilation. <u>American Review of Respiratory Diseases.</u> 131(6): 850-854; 1985.
- 70. Marshall, R. and A.B. DuBois. The measurement of the viscous resistance of the lung tissues in normal man. <u>Clinical Science.</u> 15: 161-170; 1956.
- 71. Martin, D. and J. Youtsey. Volume pressure relationships: compliance. <u>Respiratory Anatomy and Physiology.</u> Toronto: The C.V. Mosby Company; 1988.
- 72. Martin, D. and J. Youtsey. <u>Respiratory Anatomy and Physiology</u>. Toronto: The C.V. Mosby Company; 1988.
- 73. McIlroy, M.B., R. Marshall, and R.V. Christie. The work of breathing in normal subjects. <u>Clinical Science</u>. 13: 127-136; 1954.
- 74. McKenna, W.J., P.M. Griffin, N.R. Anthonisen, and H.A. Menkes. Oscillation mechanics of the submerged respiratory system. <u>Aerospace Medicine</u>. 44(3): 324-326; 1973.
- 75. Mead, J. Measurement of inertia of the lungs at increased ambient pressure. Journal of Applied Physiology. 9: 208-212; 1956.

99

- Mead, J. and Agostoni, E. Dynamics of breathing. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 77. Mead, J. and J. Milic-Emili. Theory and methodology in respiratory mechanics with glossary of symbols. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook</u> of <u>Physiology</u>: <u>Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 78. Milic-Emili, G. and J. Petit. Mechanical efficiency of breathing. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Physiology</u>. 15(3): 359-362; 1960.
- 79. Morrison, J.B. Physiological principles of underwater breathing apparatus. In: Bennett, P.B., and D.H. Elliot (eds.). <u>The Physiology and Medicine of</u> <u>Diving. 2nd Ed.</u> London: Bailliere Tindall. 1975.
- Morrison, J.B., P.B. Bennett, E.E.P. Barnard, and W.J. Eaton. Physiological studies during a deep, simulated oxygen-helium dive to 1500 feet. In Lambertson, C.J. (ed.). <u>Underwater Physiology V: proceedings of the</u> <u>fifth symposium on underwater physiology</u>. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, Bethesda, Maryland; 1976.
- Morrison, J.B., and S.D. Reimers. Design principles of underwater breathing apparatus. In: Bennett, P.B., and D.H. Elliot (eds.). <u>The Physiology and</u> <u>AMedicine of Diving. 3rd Ed.</u> London: Bailliere Tindall. 1982.
- Morrison, J.B., E.A. Ryan, D.R. Stirling and N.A.S. Taylor. Human pulmonary dynamics during upright immersion. Proceedings of the Physiological Society, 19-20 June, 1987. Journal of Physiology. 392: 82P; 1987.
- Morrison, J.B. and N.A.S. Taylor. Breathing gas pressure and its effect on "" hyberbaric, immersed exercise in man. Proceedings of the Physiological Society, 22-23 July, 1988. Journal of Physiology. 407: 37P; 1988.
- Morrison, J.B. and N.A.S. Taylor. Expiratory reserve volume and expiratory relaxation volume disparities during human immersion. Proceedings of the Physiological Society, 22-23 July, 1988. Journal of Physiology. 407: 38P; 1988.
- Opie, L.H., J.M.K. Spalding, and F.D. Stott. Mechanical properties of the chest during intermittent positive pressure respiration. <u>Lancet.</u> 1: 545-550; 1959.
- 86. Otis, A. The work of breathing. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook</u> of <u>Physiology</u>: <u>Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 87. Otis, A., W.O. Fenn, and H. Rahn. Mechanics of breathing in man. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Physiology</u>. 2: 592-607; 1950.
- Otis, A., C. McKerrow, R. Bartlett, J. Mead, M. McIlroy, N. Selverstone, and E. Radford Jr. Mechanical Factors in distribution of pulmonary ventilation. Journal of Applied Physiology. 8: 427-443; 1956.
- 89. Peslin, R., C. Duvivier, J. Didelon, and C. Gallina. Respiratory impedance measured with head generator to minimize upper airway shunt. <u>Journal</u> of <u>Applied Physiology</u>. 59(6): 1790-1795; 1985.

- 90. Radford, E., Jr. Static mechanical properties of mammalian lungs. In Fenn, W.O. and Rahn, H. (eds.). <u>Handbook of Physiology: Respiration I.</u> Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society; 1964.
- 91. Rahn, H., A.B. Otis, L.E. Chadwick, and W.O. Fenn. The perssure-volume diagram of the thorax and lung. <u>American Journal of Physiology</u>, 146(6): 161-178; 1946.
- 92. Reid, M.B., R.B. Banzett, H.A. Feldman, and J. Mead. Reflex compensation of spontaneous breathing when immersion changes diaphragm length. Journal of Applied Physiology. 58(4): 1136-1142; 1985.
- Ringel, E.R., S.H. Loring, J. Mead, and R.H. Ingram, Jr. Chest wall distortion during resistive inspiratory loading. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology</u>. 58(5): 1646-1653; 1985.
- 94. Robinson, C.H. Jr., C.M. Engle, and M.E. Bradley. Lung volumes in man immersed to the neck: dilution and plethysmographic techniques. Journal of Applied Physiology: Respiration, Environmental Medicine, and Exercise Physiology. 44(5): 679-682; 1978.
- 95. Rohrer, F. Der Strömungswiderstand in den menschlichen Atemweger und der Einfluss der unregelmassigen Verzweigung des Bronchialsystems auf den Atmungsverlauf verschiedenen Lungenbezirken. <u>Arch. Ges.</u> <u>Physiol.</u> 162: 225-299; 1915.
- 96. Rohrer, F. Der Zusammenhang der Atemfrafte und ihre Abhangigkeit vom Dehnungszustand der Atmungsorgane. <u>Pflugers</u> <u>Archives.</u> 165: 419; 1916.
- 97. Rohrer, F. Physiologie der Atembewegung. Handbuch der normalen und path. <u>Physiologie.</u> 2: 70; 1925.
- 98. Salzano, J., D. Rausch, and H. Saltzman. Cardiorespiratory responses to exercise at a simulated sea water depth of 1000 feet. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Applied Physiology</u>, 28(1): 34-41; 1970.
- Sharp, J., J. Henry, S. Sweany, W. Meadows, and R. Pietras. The total work of breathing in normal and obese men. <u>Journal of Clinical</u> <u>Investigation.</u> 43(4): 728-739; 1964.
- 100. Shee, C.D., Ploy-Song-Sang, and J. Milic-Emili. Decay of inspiratory muscle pressure during expiration in conscious humans. Journal of Applied Physiology. 58(6): 1859-1865; 1985.
- 101. Shinozaki, T., R.S. Deane, F.M. Perkins, L.H. Coffin, F.P. Ittleman, J.E. Mazuzen, Jr., and F.M. Bird. Comparison of high frequency lung ventilation with mechanical ventilation. Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 89: 269-274; 1985.
- 102. Slonim, N.B. and L.H. Hamilton. <u>Respiratory Physiology</u>. <u>5th ed.</u> Toronto: The C.V. Mosby Company; 1987.
- 103. Solway, J., N. Gavriely, A.S. Slutsky, T.H. Rossing, P. Drinker, A.F. Saari, and J.M. Drazen. Effect of bias flow rate on gas transport during high-frequency oscillatory ventilation. <u>Respiration Physiology</u>, 60: 267-276; 1985.

- 104: Spaur, W., L. Raymond, M. Knott, J. Crothers, W. Braithwaite, E. Thalmann, and D.Uddin. Dyspnea in divers at 49.5 ATA: mechanical not chemical in origin. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 4(2): 183-198; 1977.
- 105. Sterk, W. Diver and underwater breathing appartus. <u>Nederl. Milit. Geneesk.</u> <u>T.</u> 23: 322-356; 1970.
- 106. Sterk, W. Respiratory mechanics of diver and diving apparatus. PhD Thesis. University of Utrecht (Holland). Drukkerij Elinkwijk, Utrecht. 1973.
- 107. Tajiri, J., H. Katsuya, K. Okamoto, K. Urata, and T. Sato. The effects of the respiratory cycle by mechanical ventilation on the cardiac output measured using the thermodilution method. <u>Japanese Circulation</u> <u>Journal.</u> 48(4): 328-330; 1984.
- 108. Tamsma, T.J.A. and A.J.G. Spoelstra. <u>Critical Care Medicine</u> (letter). 14(1): 78; 1986.
- 109. Taylor, N.A.S. Effect of Breathing Gas Pressure on Respiratory Mechanics of Immersed Man. PhD Thesis. Simon Fraser University; 1987.
- 110. Taylor, N.A.S. and J.B. Morrison. Lung centroid pressure in immersed man. <u>Undersea Biomedical Research.</u> 16(1): 3-19; 1989.
- 111. Taylor, N.A.S. and J.B. Morrison. Lung centroid pressure and its influence on respiratory and physical work during immersion. Physiological and Human Engineering Aspects of Underwater Breathing Apparatus UHMS Workshop, Bethesda, Maryland. April 10-11, 1989.
- 112. Thalmann, E., D. Sponholtz, and C. Lundgren. Effects of immersion and static lung loading on submerged exercise at depth. <u>Undersea Biomedical</u> <u>Research.</u> 6(3): 259290; 1979.
- 113. Wade, O. Movements of the thoracic cage and diaphragm in respiration. Journal of Physiology (London). 124: 193-212; 1954.
- 114. Ward, S., B. Whipp, and C. Poon. Density-dependent airflow and ventilatory control during exercise. <u>Respiration Physiology</u>, 49: 267-277; 1982.
- 115. Weinmann, G.G., B.A. Simon, and W. Mitzner. Lung compliance changes on high-frequency ventilation in normal dogs. <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Physiology: Respiratory, Environmental, and Exercise Physiology.</u> 56(2): 506512; 1984. —
- 116. Weissman, C., J. Askanazi, J. Milic-Emili, and J.M. Kinney. Effect of respiratory apparatus on respiration. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology:</u> <u>Respiratory</u>, <u>Environmental</u>, and <u>Exercise</u> <u>Physiology</u>. 57(2): 475-480; 1984.
- 117. Whitwam, J.G., M.K. Chakrabarti, S. Sapsed-Byrne, and A. Perl. Combined continuous flow, normal, and high-frequency ventilation. <u>Critical Care</u> <u>Medicine.</u> 14(3): 202206; 1986.
- 118. Williams, S. Engineering principles of underwater breathing apparatus. In: Bennett, P.B., and D.H. Elliot (eds.). <u>The Physiology and Medicine of</u> <u>Diving. 2nd Ed.</u> London: Bailliere Tindall. 1975.
- 119. Wood, L. and A. Bryan. Effect of increased ambient pressure on flow-volume curve of the lung. Journal of Applied Physiology. 27(1): 4-8; 1969.

 Wood, L. and A. Bryan. Exercise ventilatory mechanics at increased ambientpressure. <u>Journal of Applied Physiology: Respiratory</u>, Environmental, and Exercise Physiology. 44(2): 231-237; 1978.

121. Woolcock, A.J., N.J. Vincent, and P.T. Macklem. Frequency dependence of compliance as a test for obstruction in small airways. Journal of <u>Clinical Investigation.</u> 48: 1097-1105; 1969.

103

:,

ź

SUB #	VC	IC	. ERV	FEV,
<u></u>				
1	5.594	3.243	2.657	3.892
2	5.459	3.648	1.757	4.351
3	5.756	3.628	2.564	4.675
4	6.216	4.729	2.660	4.513
5	5.5 89	4.432	2.387	4.644

Table A1: Respiratory Capacities, L (BTPS)

C

ļ

APPENDIX B

Table B1: Regression coefficients and variance for inspiratory flow-resistive work.

SUB#	βο	<i>B</i> ₁	$\langle \beta_2 \rangle$	Ra'
		۶		
1	-0.062 ± 0.224	0.0116 ± 0.0062	0.000022 ± 0.000014	0.459
2	0.245 ± 0.110	0.0022 ± 0.0032	0.000024 ± 0.000008	0.498
3	0.158 ± 0.104	-0.0002 ± 0.0030	0.000060 ± 0.000008	0.847
4	0.222 ± 0.296	0.0225 ± 0.0088	0.000025 ± 0.000024	0.427
5	0.366 ± 0.105	0.0050 ± 0.0031	0.000030 ± 0.000008	0.690
Ave	0.186 ± 0.326	0.0063 ± 0.0140	0.000032 ± 0.000028	0.797±0.090
		2 · · · ·		,

SUB #	βο	β_1	β_2 .	R _a ²
1	0.462 ± 0.127	0.0001 ± 0.0035	0.000067 ± 0.000008	0.871
2	0.350 ± 0.088	-0.0020 ± 0.0026	0.000065 ± 0.000007	0.888
3	0.584 ± 0.163	-0.0049 ± 0.0048	0.000058 ± 0.000012	0.607
4	0.205 ± 0.386	0.0322 ± 0.0115	0.000007 ± 0.000031	0.427
5	0.366 ± 0.195	-0.0016 ± 0.0058	0.000110 ± 0.000015	0.820
Ave	0.394 ± 0.332	0.0048 ± 0.0210	0.000061 ± 0.000051	0.863±0.108

Table B2: Regression coefficients and variance for expiratory flow-resistive work.

Ì

SUB#	βο	β_{1}	β,	Ra'
		· · ·		
1	-0.397 ± 0.269	0.0118 ± 0.0074	0.000089 ± 0.000017	0.797
2	0.589 ± 0.127	0.0004 ± 0.0038	0.000088 ± 0.000010	0.889
3	0.753 ± 0.236	-0.0059 ± 0.0069	0.000121 ± 0.000018	0.787
4	0.421 ± 0.656	0.0547 ± 0.0196	0.000032 ± 0.000053	0.477
5	0.726 ± 0.280	0.0035 ± 0.0083	0.000140 ± 0.000021	0.814
Ave	0.577 ± 0.479	0.0129 ± 0.0334	0.000094 ± 0.000065	0.880±0.085

Table B3: Regression coefficients and variance for total flow-resistive work.

107

SUB #	β _o	${\mathcal{G}}_1$	βı	R _a ²
· · · · · ·	<u> </u>			
1	0.692 ± 0.302	0.0077 ± 0.0084	0.000104 ± 0.000019	0.780
2	0.761 ± 0.114	0.0016 ± 0.0034	0.000078 ± 0.000009	0.891
3	1.093 ± 0.258	-0.0059 ± 0.0075	0.000105 ± 0.000019	0.690
4	1.277 ± 0.770	0.0456 ± 0.0230	0.000014 ± 0.000063	0.255
5	0.772 ± 0.277	0.0116 ± 0.0082	0.000116 ± 0.000021	0.798
Ave	0.920 ± 0.597	0.0121 ± 0.0230	0.000084 ± 0.000068	0.683±0.250

Table B4: Regression coefficients and variance for total respiratory work.

APPENDIX C

Table C1: Regression coefficients and variance for inspiratory resistance.

SUBJECT	βο	β_{1}	R a ^z
- <u> </u>			
1	1.040 ± 0.111	0.0327 ± 0.0213	0.848
2	0.745 ± 0.160	0.0630 ± 0.0289	0.684
3	0.620 ± 0.155	0.1220 ± 0.0290	0.736
5	1.542 ± 0.129	0.0678 ± 0.0247	0.884
Ave	0.987 ± 0.549	0.0714 ± 0.0632	0.788±0.094
			• *

SUBJECT	β _o	β_1	R _a ²,
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
1	1.572 ± 0.201	0.1319 ± 0.0377	0.829
2	0.389 ± 0.144	0.2040 ± 0.0258	0.838
3	1.038 ± 0.131	0.0679 ± 0.0242	0.836
5	2.031 ± 0.366	0.0839 ± 0.0696	0.616
Ave	1.258 ± 0.917	0.122_± 0.100	0.780 ± 0.109

Table C2: Regression coefficients and variance for expiratory resistance.